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REPORT OF T H E  G E N E R A L  COM M I TTEE (Fortheyearended31stDecember,1995) 

The General Committee has pleasure in present­
ing its repon together with the accounts for the 
year ended 31st December, 1995. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The role of the Chamber is to promote, repre­
sent and safeguard the interests of the Hong 

Kong business conununiry. 

ACCOUNTS 
The state of the Chamber's affairs at 31st 
December, 1995 and the result for that year 
mded are set out in the accounts on pages 24-31. 

ASSETS 
Details of the moven1ents in assets are shown in 
Notes 3-7 to the accounts. 
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GENERAL COMMITrEE MEMBERS 
The General Committee Members who held 
otTice during the year are set out on Page 1. No 
Member of the GenerJI Committee, or any other 
Members of the Chamber, received any form of 
remuneration in return for their services, other 

than normal professional or similar fees paid for 
services or supplies rendered to the Chamber 
and no portion of the income or propeny of the 
Chamber was paid or transferred directly or indi­
rectly by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise to 
Members of the Chamber. 

INTEREST IN CONIRACfS 
No contract of significance t o  which the 
Chamber was a pany and in which a General 
Committee Member had a material interest sub-
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sisted at the end of the year nor at any time dur­
ing the year. 

AUDITORS 
A n:solution for the re-appointment of KPMG 
Peat Marwitk as auditors of the Chamber L� to 
be proposed at the fonhcoming annual general 
meeti�1g. 

By Order of the General Commiuec, 

William K. Fung,on< •. w. 
Chairman. 

on 21st March 1996 
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Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT 
.:t �t, m -i!r l!f 

GENERAL REVIEW OF 1995 

A
ccustomed as Hong Kong has 
become to sustained high growth 
and economic feel good factors, 

events early in 1995 started an untypical 
wave of negative sentiment. The Mexican 
"Tequila" crisis, the Kohe eatthquake, the 
collapse of Barings and international trade 
issues all unsettled the market�. 

Given the Territory's open economy 
and its vital economic links with China and 
the United States, Hong Kong's economic 
performance depends to a significant extent 
on factors outside of its control. This was 
demonstrated in the consequences of a rise 
in US interest rates and a successful credit 
crunch on the Mainland, both of which 
impacted on the domestic economy. 
Whilst locally, poor domestic consumption 
and a weaker propetty market added to the 
feeling of economic malaise. 

However, as the Chamber stated repeat­
edly during the year, thi'i pessimism was nor 
justified by the facts. Despite an overall 
slowdown in the rate of economic growth, 
continued expansion in ell:temal trade, hoth 
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in goods and services, as well as in capital 
f01mation and invesuncnt in ne\v infrastmc­
ture projects, still enabled the economy to 
achieve the Government's target of 5% real 
growth in the year. This ought to be con­
sidered very satisfactory in what is, effective­
ly, a developed service economy. 

Nevertheless, in business circles, the 
issues of confidence and competitiveness 
remained prominent points of discussion, 
which featured in the Chamber's Annual 
Business Summit in December. 

CONFIDENCE 
Smveys during the year showed low levels 
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of economic confidence, despite relatively 
stable levels of political confidence. The 
decline in economic confidence can be 
attributed to higher interest rates, which 
began in 1994 and continued into 1995, a 
decline in property values and a rise in 
unemployment. Lower economic confi­
dence was reflected in a reduction in 
domestic consumption, p�u1icularly in retail 
outlets, restaurants and car sales. However, 
although retail sales are still flat, it appears 
that economic confidence has now hit the 
bottom and is likely to 1ise during 1996. 

E.�pecially welcome are the prospects 
for increasing political confidence as the 
Territory nears transition of sovereignty. 
Sino-British relations improved markedly 
during the year, heginrung in mid summer 
with agreement on the Court of Final 
Appeal. This was followed quickly by 
Financial Suppo1t agreements for the new 
airport and airport railway. Then, in 
Beijing, the Chief Secretary met with Vice 
Premier and Foreign Minister Qian Qichen 
and Hong Kong Macau Affairs Office 
Director Lu Ping. A better climate devel­
oped in the Joint Liaison Group and Mr 
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Qian Qichen had a successful meeting with 
British Foreign Secretaty Malcolm Ritkind in 
London. These events collectively set the 
seal on politically positive sentiment. 

COMPETITIVENESS 
During 1995, the Chamber reiterated its 
concern on several occasions about the 
need to retain its competitiveness, regional­
ly and internationally, especially in it'i ser­
vices sector, if it is to ensure sustained eco­
nomic growth. There is no doubt that infla­
tion and its impact on rising rents, wages 
and other costs throughout 1993 and 1994 
affected the TetTitory's position in 1995 and 
will continue to do so. Progress in contain­
ing inflation has been vety slow. It is part 
of the price the Territoty pays for maintain­
ing the stabilising influence of the US dollar 
link. Although the CPI(A) reached a low of 
6.6(Yo in December, avemge consumer ptice 
inllation was 8.7% for the year against 8.1% 
in 1994 and 8.5% in 1993. Were it not for 
the decline in the US dollar, and by associa­
tion the Hong Kong dollar with it, against 
third currencies Hong Kong·s position 
might have been worse than it was. 
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In recognition of the need to maintain 
long-term competitiveness, the Chamber's 
Small and Medium Enterprises Committee 
made a comprehensive submis.'iion to the 
Government on the Cost of Doing Business 
in Hong Kong. It made a range of sugges­
tions on property costs, wages and 
Government fees and charges. 

For it'i part, the Chamber t<xJk the lead, 
and attracted considerable criticism, for rec­
ommending an average wage increase for 
1996 of 8% including merit, thus delinking 
pay seulements from the well established 
formula of inflation plus. The Chamber 
also recommended that  increases in 
Government fees and charges should be 
fully transparent, justified only by genuine 
increases in costs and set at a level below 
inllation to encourage greater efficiency. 

Another area of worry is the level of 
productivity in the setvices sector. Whilst 
productivity has been rising in the 
Territory's manufacturing sector, due to a 
decline in labour input and increased capi­
tal investment, in the setvices sector, pro­
ductivity increases have been relatively 
poor and even declined in some industries. 

At the same time, wages in services have 
run ahead of productivity. With the full 
support of the Chamber, this important !�tc­
tor is now being addressed by the Hong 
Kong Productivity Council. 

UNEMPLOYMENT 
During 1995, unemployment became the 
subject of intense political debate. 
Discussion centred around rhe rise in the 
unemployed, the efTect of imported labour, 
and illegal workers. The main reasons for 
increased unemployment were a substantial 
expansion in the population of working age 
(those above 15 years of age), an inflow of 
expattiates and rerumees, and an increase in 
one-way pennit holders from China. Much 
of the debate was emotional and ill-infonned. 
A Hong Kong University study showed that if 
all imported labourers were removed, unem­
ployment would decrease by only 0.0014%. 
More people were employed in Hong Kong 
in 1995 than ever belore, but whilst the nwn­
ber of people employed increased by a!xJut 
10% in the past three years, the size of d1e 
workforce increased at an unusually high 1�1te 
of 120/u in the same peri<xL 

Update on Chek lap Kok progress and the road and rail bridges linking the new airport to Tung 
Chung new town on North lantau. 
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Hong Kong Ccn�ral Chamber of Commerce 

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT 
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The Chamber reiterated its suppmt for 
providing employment first to Hong Kong 
people whenever possible. However, it 
was also a strong advocate of the impor­
tance of i.mpo1ting foreign workers without 
quota, if suitable Hong Kong workers are 
unavailable, in order to sustain optimum 
economic growth and, thus, to create more 
jobs for the local workforce. Although tem­
porarily, employment has been unable to 
keep pace with the increase in the available 
workforce, the Chamber believes this is a 
short-term phenomenon and that the cur­
rent level of around 3.3% unemployment 
will soon revert to the historical average of 
between 2.6-2.8%. The challenge will be to 
prevent the formation of a pool of long­
term unemployed. This requires effective 
retraining and job matching. 

TRADE DEFICIT 
During the year, Hong Kong experienced a 
record merchandise 1rade deficit of S 147 
billion. Despite a record services balance 
of $130 billion, Hnal figures are expected to 
show a trade deficit on goods and se1vices 
of about $16 billion. However,  the 
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Chamber is not particularly concerned 
about this trend at this stage. It believes 
the deficit is caused by increased impo11s of 
raw materials and semi-manufactures for 
reprocessing, i.nfra:;tniCnire-related imports 
and some under-recording of exports clue 
to transhipment and other factors. 
Ce11ainly, a strong Hong Kong dollar indi­
cates that there was a net capital flow into 
the Territo1y during 1995. 

OUTLOOK FOR 1996 
Looking ahead, the Chamber anticipates 
another year of modest growth. Barring a 
risk that the Mainland's economy may over­
shoot on the dmvnside, the more possible 
threat of Sino/US trade friction, or some 
other major upset. the Chamber expects the 
economy to grow around 5.2% in 199(i with 
inflation at about 8%. 

These forecasts are based on the view 
that the world economy will see steady 
growth in the year ahead and that inflation 
globally will be kept in check. The indica­
tions are promising. The US, Hong Kong's 
biggest trading partner after China, is in a 
Presidential election year, eluting which the 

Erection of deck sections of Tsing Ma Bridge. 

J!f�*-llil9tli1Uifilll:Im • 

4 

Administration will ain1 to achieve at least 
steady groMh. 

On the Mainland, the authorities 
appear to be succeeding in reducing intla­
tion without a draconian austerity pro­
granune. Foreign investment should con­
tinue to fuel growth in the Mainland's econ­
omy, although the pace may decrease fol­
lowing attempts to direct investment to 
undeveloped provinces and clue to reduc­
tions in some tax concessions. China's 
pace of economic growth i:; expected to 
slow slightly to around 9% annual growth 
with intlation down to l0%J in 1996. 

In the rest of Asia, whilst growth may 
he down slightly on 1995, it is expected to 
remain strong at well over twice the global 
ave1:1ge. However, japan remains a prob­
lem with low growth and ddlation, despite 
the Government's attempts to stimulate the 
economy. But this is of less consequence 
to Hong Kong, where Japan is primarily a 
source of imports rather than a major 
expo1t pa11ner. 

In the Emopean Union, the economic 
outlcx)k remains mixed. However, oveJ:lll. 
growth i:; expected to remain steady at rela-



tively lmv levels in the Community and should 
not be a Gluse for concern in Hong Kong. 

Domestically in Hong Kong,  the 
Chamber hopes to see inllation come down 
slightly during the year. With the cost of 
services and rent on the gradual downward 
trend, food prices may prove a possible 
wild card. Hut on balance, inflation should 
come down to around 8%. To get belmv 
that figure would imply a further significant 
economic slowdown. 

On an optimistic note, domestic con­
sumption is expected to pick up somewhat 
from a low base in the year ahead, fixed 
capital investment will stay strong due to 
infrastructure spending, and extemal t1�1de 
will continue to make gains, with narrowing 
merchandise and current account deficits. 
The Chamber expects a modest improve­
ment in the housing market, where fmtber 
interest rate cut� would help, and continu­
ing moderation in wage and other cost�. 

In the coming months, issues which 
the Chamber will follow closely will proba­
bly include the question of executive-led 
government, the Mandatory Provident New ferry piers on the Central Reclamation. 
Fund, other labour market issues, promo- Ul:�<Plllil�lltl'ilW!a.fltTi!UJ • 
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Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT 
.:t m; * * 1'� 

tion of services and, of course, the transi­
tionary process. 

EXECUTIVE-LED GOVERNMENT 
The Chamber has long suppmted the con­
cept of E.'l:ecutive-Led Government in Hong 
Kong, as enshrined in both the Letters 
Patent and the Basic Law, in the belief that 
hithe11o this has produced responsible gov­
ernment in the interests of both business 
and Hong Kong collectively. \Y./e have 
been concemed at the proclivity of some 
members of the current Legislative Council 
to seek to usurp this prerogative and to by­
pass agreements negotia ted at the estab­
lished tri-pattite Labour Advisory Board, by 
amendments to legislation and by private 
members bills. The Chamber will react 
appropriately to attempts t o  re-define 
wages, inhibit the importation of labour, 
introduce anti-cliscriminatmy measures, or 
any other legisla tion which impacts on 
business costs and investor confidence. In 
the worst case, if such legislation is enacted 
without government suppott, the Chamber 
will urge the Govemor to apply his execu­
tive veto. 
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MANDATORY PROVIDENT FUND 
Whilst recognising the need to establish a 
retirement scheme in Hong Kong, the 
Chamber would have prefetTed to see an 
extension and encouragement of the cur­
rent private sector retirement system. 
However, the Chamber gave its suppon to 
the Mandatmy Provident Fund Scheme last 
July because i t  was the first retirement 
scheme to attract broad community sup­
po11. At that time, the Chamber, together 
with other employers' groups, expressed 
deep concern alxmt a number of areas in 
the enabling legislation, specifically to 
ensure that existing schemes under the 
Occupational Retirement Scheme 
Ordinance, which met the essential MPF 
requirements, should be allowed to contin­
ue under their existing regulations and 
recruit new members; that the definition of 
relevant income for ORSO schemes should 
remain unchanged; and that employers 
should be able to off.<iet their conuibutions 
to the MPF against Long Service and 
Severance Payments, amongst others. 
Following the decision of  the Finance 
Committee of  the Legislation Council to 

approve funding for the establishment of 
MPF office, the Chamber will monitor 
members' interests very closely during the 
passage of the MPF subsidiaty legislation. 

PROMOTION OF SERVICES 
for many months, the Hong Kong Coalition 
o f  Service Industries, the highly 
autonomous se1vices industty arm of the 
Chamber, has been working closely with 
the Government by contributing to the for­
mulation of the policy announced by the 
Financial Secretary in his Hudget Address 
and subsequently, on the promotion of  
Hong Kong's service industries. The 
Chamber will strive to  continue to play a 
prominent role in establishing and imple­
menting the Government's propn�als. 

TRANSffiON 
Recognising the imp<Jitance of close liaison 
and cooperation during the 11nal 433 days of 
transition, the Chamber welcomes the 
increased liaison in recent months, between 
policy secretaries and the working level of 
Government with Chinese officials. It is of 
equal importance to encourage similar 

Chairman William Fung cuts the ribbon opening on April 27 the new strategically-located head­
quarters of the Chamber's Certification Division on Nathan Road, Mongkok. 
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A page from the Minute Book that recorded 
the names of the founding members of the 
Chamber in 1861 . 
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cooperation between the Government and 
the Preparatory Committee and,  when 
established, between the Government and 
the Office of the Chief Executive (desig­
nate). The Chamber will continue to urge 
the Administration to do everything possible 
to put this in hand in order to provide the 
best possible chance for a smooth transition. 

CONCLUSION 
The two years of my chairmanship of the 
Chamber have been exhilarating and chal­
lenging both to Hong Kong and the 
Chamber. That is the price and the prize 
for living and working in this dynamic 
Territ01y on the verge of an historic ll:msi­
tion of sovereignty. Now, with political 
confidence growing and an economy which 
seems set to move smoothly through the 
transition period, I am confident we can 
look forward with assurance to the future. 

In signing off as Chairman, I want to 
express my deep gratitude to my colleagues 
on the General Conm1ittee and to the chair­
men and members of the Chamber's 28 
active, special interest conunittees for their 
contributions and commitment; for they are 
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the load bearing pillars of the organisation, 
without whom the Chamber could not 
operate. In (Xllticular, I am grateful to my 
Vice-Chairmen, Robe1t Savage and James 
Ticn, and to our Legislative Council 
Representative, Paul Cheng, for their advice 
and support and for shari ng the load of rep­
resentational commitment<;. I wish to thank 
Paul Cheng, also, for his work on behalf of 
the Chamber in the Legislative Council since 
October last year. In addition, I want to 
record my appreciation to the Chamber's 
staff for providing an efficient administrative 
base and back office suppmt. 

Finally, in wishing the Chamber contin­
uing success in the future, I ask all mem­
bers to give their full support to my succes­
sor in the coming year. 

William K Fung 
Chairman 
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Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

CHAMBER REVIEW 
� t� fli !,J.� �} 

INTRODUCI'ION 

T 
he Chamber has three primary 
functions : representation of our 
members· views and interests both 

in Hong Kong and globally amongst our 
major business partners; promotion of 
trade, investment and industry in both 
Hong Kong and the Mainland; and provid­
ing business opportunities for our mem­
bers. How well we have fulfilled these 
roles can be gleaned by reading the divi­
sional rep01ts which follow. 

The Chamber's work has encompassed 
lxJth the promotion and development of the 
macro-economic interests of Hong Kong 
and, just as impo1tantly, the protection of 
the business interests of individual members. 

Certainly. the scope and breadth of our 
activities have never been larger; and in 
1995 our membership reached a new all 
time high of 4,347 corporate members, rep­
resenting substantially more than half of the 
Territoty's workforce. 

LOCAL AFFAIRS AND 
ECONOMICS DIVISION 
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I. A. Chrislie 1/ff±� 

As the year under review progressed and it 
became apparent that the pace of economic 
grmvth was slowing, public and legislative 
interest in a t�mge of economic and social 
issues increased substantially. This 
inevitably led to greater demands being 
placed on the resources of the Local AlTairs 
and Economics Division to provide cham­
ber committees, individual members and 
others with the research information neces­
sary to make informed choices. 
Fortunately, the expansion of the Division 
during 1 994 with the appointment of an 
Executive Officer Research, helped the 
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Division cope with the additional deman(b 
on its resources. 

During the year, the Division continued 
to act as the Secretariat to four conm1ittees 
(Legal, Economic Policy, Taxation and 
Home Affairs) and two working groups 
(Chjna Tax Group and Prope11y Working 
Group). It also continued to publish on a 
monthly and bi-monthly basis respectively 
the Phonafacts service (comments on the 
Hong Kong economy) and Chinafacts (with 
regular updates on China economic matters). 

The Division provided rCf:,'ttlar briefings 
to incoming delegations and visiting indi­
viduals to the Chamber, both on the Hong 
Kong and the China economies. During 
the year, the Chief Economist delivered 30 
speeches outside the Chamber, including 
one, in Vancouver, to the International 
Finance Conference. He also regularly 
undertook media interviews on the eco­
nomic and social issues of the day. 

The year opened with the Division 
continuing to focus on the tlaws in the 
Government's proposed Old Age Pension 
Scheme (OPS), which the Chamber was 
pleased to see dropped in the early weeks 
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of the New Year in favour of a proposed 
Mandatory Provident found (MPF). The 
Division is proud of the role it played in 
ensuring community understanding of the 
difficulties inherent in the OPS. Together 
\Vith other Chamber divisions it continued 
to play a role in l iaison with the 
Government on the proposed J\1PF scheme. 

On behalf of the Chamber, the 
Division again delivered a detailed pre­
Buclget submission to Government and was 
pleased to see the financial secretary adopt 
many of the recommendations contained in 
it. The Division was also involved in the 
preparation of a number of other major 
submissions to Government during the 
year, including those on Land Supply, the 
Property Market and Urban Renewal, the 
Labour Market and Unemployment (which 
became a n  important issue during the 
year), Impottecl Labour, and many others. 

The Division also prepared the 
Chamber's annual pay review recommen­
dation and its letter to the Governor ahead 
of his annual address to the opening of the 
new Legislative Council. Towards the end 
of the year, the Chief Economist again 
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Distinguished visitors who addressed the Chamber during the year included (clockwise): Wim Kok, 
Prime Minister of the Netherlands; lord Howe, former Foreign Secretary during the negotiation of 
the Sino-British Joint Declaration; Jeremy Hanley, new British Minister in the Foreign Office whose 
responsibilities include Hong Kong; Ambassador Charlene Barshefsky, U S  Deputy Trade 
Representative. 
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delivered to the annual 
Business Summit, the 
Chamber's review of the 
economy for 1995 and 
its preview of the 1996 
outlook. For the first 
time in the 1995 year, 
the Division also held a 
review of the 
Government's Budget in 
March. 

Conunittee 
Activities 

Economic Policy 
Conunittee 
With the increased atten-
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tion focused on economic issues as the 
pace of growth eased, the Economic Policy 
Committee under its Chairman, Mr Martin 
Barrow, had an extremely busy year. It met 
five times and discussed a wide vaJiety of 
economic issues including labour matters 
and wages, the OPS and MPF, the Budget, 
economic forecasts and Business Summit, 
the costs of doing business in Hong Kong, 
and competitiveness and productivity. Tt 
also undet1ook a major project on deregula­
tion in Government, involving the collection 
of recommendations on where the 
Government could further deregulate and 
increase operating efficiencies. The project 
was still in process at year"s end. The 
Committee had a substantial increase in it� 
membership during the year, with some of 
the territory's foremost economists agreeing 
to join. 

Legal Committee 
With increased Government legislative 
activity and a more active Legislative 
Council  vetting legislation (and even 
putting forward its own Private J\lembers' 
Bills), the workload of the I.egal Committee 
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increased during the year. The Conunittee 
held six formal meetings and a pre­
Christmas informal luncheon get together 
organised by its Chairman, Mr Greg Teny. 
Among the major tasks it undertook during 
the year were a monitoring role of the 
Government's review of the Companies 
Ordinance (the Reviewer, Mr Ermanno 
Pascutto, addressing a meeting of the 
Committee early in the year to outline his 
plans for the review), Access to 
Information, Business Ethics, Preliminaty 
Working Committee liaison on localisation 
and adaptation of Hong Kong laws, 
Employees Compensation Award changes, 
the Government Review of Legal Services 
and others. The Committee also monitored 
all other legislation moving through Legco 
panels and committees and the Legco 

· itself. Like the Economic Policy 
Committee, the Legal Committee wel­
comed a number of new members during 
the year. 

Taxation Committee 
The Taxation Committee, under the 
Chairmanship of Mr Roddy Sage also hac! 
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an active year, meeting four times during 
the year. With increased pressure on the 
Government to increase its spending pro­
grammes, much of the Committee's time 
was taken up with Hudgetaty m,-ltters. TI1e 
Chairman and the Chief Economist deliv­
ered assessments of the Budget to a special 
luncheon meeting of Chamber members. 
During the year, the Committee formed the 
China Tax Group to better assess changes 
in China tax law and practice. The 
Taxation Committee itself continued to 
monitor changes to domestic tax law and 
practice, including Practice Notes and the 
like from the Inland Revenue Depattment. 
New members were also added to this 
Committee although the year saw the retire­
ment of long term member and former 
Chaiml<ll1 Mr Patrick Paul because of other 
business commitments. 

China Tax Group 
TI1is Group met four times during the year 
under the Chairmanship of Mr Rex Young 
to discuss the rapid changes in the 
Mainland taxation system. Of particular 
interest were changes to the Value Added 
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Tax Ikhate and alkrations to various 
import dutil:s announced in the latter 
months of the year. 

Property Working Group 
The ad hoc Property Working Group met 
only once during the year to discuss the 
proposed Chamber submission to 
Governnwnt on Land Supply and the 
Urban Renewal paper prepared for public 
discussion. A paper outlining the Chamber's 
views \Vas subsequently presented to the 
relevant Government Departments and 
Legco representatives etc. 

Home Affairs Conunittee 
The Home Affairs Committee met only 
once during the year before being disband­
ed. This action was taken after careful con­
sideration because much of its former work 
had been taken up by other Committees 
within the Chamber and the Coalition of 
Service Industries. Chamber gratitude, 
however, goes to the former Committee 
Chairman. Mr J P lee, and all its members, 
who made valued contributions during the 
Committee's life. 
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The Chamber also welcomed during the year (clockwise): Donald Tsang, new Financial Secretary 
who made his maiden speech to a sell-out auidence of approving members; lord Younger, UK 
media magnate; Suleyman Demarel, President of Turkey; Governor Chris Patten; and, Hamish 
Macleod, retiring Financial Secretary. 
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SERVICE INDUSTRIES DIVISION 

Hong Kong Coalition of Service 

Industries (HKCSI) 

International Trade Policy 
The HKCSI continued to be the leading ser­
vice industries representative of Hong Kong 
in international lr�tde policy forums in 1995. 

Immediately afier it was formally estab­
lished on 1 janmuy 1995, the World Trade 
Organisation had to deal with a wide range 
of ·•unfinished businesses" of the Uruguay 
Round. One of its major tasks was to, con­
clude <1 financial services agreement under 
the General Agreement on Trade in 
Services ( GA TS). By the end-of-] une dead­
line, negotiators failed to reach an agree­
ment. In view of this, the HKCSI initiated a 
joint statement, which was drafted by the 
British Invisibles and endorsed to by the 
CSis of Argentina, Australia, Canada, 
Europe, Ireland, and Sweden, calling on 
governments to maintain or improve their 
commitment-; in financial services liberalisa­
tion. The statement was issued on 13 July 
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and an agreement was finally reached 
before the extended deadline of 3l .July. 

Besides, the HKCSI was represented in 
the following events in 1995 : 

• The tenth CSI Conference, Dublin 
(March) 

• APEC Tnvestment Symposium, 
Bangkok (October) 

• World Trade in  Services 
Symposium, Harvard University 
(October) 

• UNCTAD workshop on post­
Uruguay Round adjustment for Asia 
Pacific countries, Snbic Bay 
(N'ovember) 

Overseas Promotion 
The imp01tance of services to the economic 
funtre of Hong Kong has been recognised 
by former Financial Secretary Sir Hamish 
Macleod, who conunissioned a consultancy 
study on promotion of trade in services. 
His successor Mr Donald Tsang took this 
initiative further by establishing a govern­
ment task force to look into the full spec­
tmm of issues affecting the development of 
setvice industries. The HKCSI supported 
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the Financial Secretary's task force and 
accordingly conducted a series of consulla­
tions among its sectoral representatives, fol­
lowing which a submission was made to 
the Financial Secret�uy setting out the CST's 
views on the framework of promotion and 
its recommendations. 

HKCSI Conurnrlttees 
A new Committee on Real Estate Services 
was established in November, bringing to 
eight the total number of committees under 
the HKCSI Executive Committee. These 
committees continued to maintain a close 
working relationship with government 
branches and clep;utments involved in ser­
vice sector policies, contributing policy dis­
cussions covering a wide range of issues. 
The following are a few selected examples : 

• Financial Services Committee 
• Regulation of securities market 
• Corporate governance 
• Corporate rescue and insolvent 

trading 
• Professional Services Conm1ittee 
• Refonn of legal services 
• Development of management 
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consultants sector 
• Accreditation of accountants 
• Information Services Committee 
• Regulation of Internet and BBS 
• Competition in fixed telecom 

ndwork se1vices 
• Video on demand 
• Inti·astructure Projects Committee 
• Progress of airpo1t core progranune 

projects 
• Transport/Distribution Services 

Committee 
• Po1t backup land and open storage 
• Terminal handling charges 
• Traffic congestion 
• Statistics Committee 
• Production-based GDP 
• Productivity measures 
• Trade in services statistics 
• Travel/Tourbm 
• Harbour reclamation 
• Cruise liners indus11y 
• Second runway of the new airpo1t 

Supporting Local Efforts 
The Coalition sponsored a research project 
"A comparative study on the status of inno-
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The Chamber's held its annual Business Summit (below) on December 4 and forecast another year 
of steady economic growth. Controversial speakers included (clockwise): William Overholt, 
Cordon Wu and Frank Ching. 
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vation and internationalisation of Hong 
Kong's service sector'' undertaken by the 
Department of Hotel and Tourism 
Management of the Hong Kong Polytechnic 
University. 

The Coalition also organised a number 
of event-; to promote various aspect'> of the 
service industrie:;, including a workshop on 
service marks registration; a luncheon 
speech by the Attorney Gene1:1l, Mr jeremy 
Mathews, on the government consultative 
paper on legal services; a workshop on 
intellectual prope1ty collecting agencies; and 
rouncltable luncheons on the capacity of Kai 
Tak airpott and on information processing. 

The Coalition is represented on a num­
ber of public bodies, including the Trade 
Advisory Board, the Statistics Advisory 
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Board, the Users and Consumers AdvisOJy 
Committee of the Office of Telecommuni­
cations Authority, and the Board of the 
Hong Kong A11icle Numbering Association. 

Hong Kong Franchise 
Association (HKFA) 

Landmark Visit to China 
In October 1995 the HKFA paid its first offi­
cial visit  ro China together with the 
Chamber's China Committee mission to 
I3eijing. The HKFA met with officials of the 
Ministry of Foreign Trade and Economic 
Cooperation (MOFTEC), the Ministry of 
Internal Trade, the State Economic and 
Tmde Conu11ission, and China Council for 
the Promotion of International Trade. The 
HKFA held useful discussion on the 
prospect of franchising in China, regula­
tions relating to foreign fi�mchises operating 
in China, and the Chinese government's 
perception on franchising. The visit was 
useful and constmctive and paved the way 
for future contacts between HKFA and 
Chinese officials in promoting franchising 
into China. 
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International Outlook 
The HKFA brought a delegation tu the 
International Franchise Expo in Washington 
DC in April, in which HKFA Chairman. 
Peter Nightingale, and Senior Manager, 
Charlotte Chow, hosted two presentations 
on franchising in Hong Kong and China. 

In June, Charlotte Chow attended a 
meeting of the World Fmnchise Council and 
the 5th European Franchise Convention held 
in Essen, Gem1any. HKFA is now a found­
ing member of the World Franchi'ie Council. 

During the year. the HKFA secretariat 
received guests from Australia, China, 
France, Gem1an}', Japan, Singapore, Taiwan 
and the us_ 

Promoting Franchising Locally 
The HKFA continued to organise events 
such as business rouncltable luncheons on 
specific aspects of franchising. I t  con­
tributed to the planning of a study course 
offered by City University of Hong Kong as 
well as conducting the first session of the 
course. The HKFA secretariat offered a lim­
ited consultancy service, which handled 
more than 1000 enquiries in 1995. 
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In December, the HKFA presented a 
position paper to the government on pro­
motion of services, calling for a conceited 
effOJt between private and public sectors to 
promote franchising as a means to improve 
productivity. 

During the year, the HKFA initiated a 
study with A1thur Anclersen on "Franchising 
in the Economy", comprising a question­
naire survey followed by interviews. A 
working group on producing a book on 
essential questions on f1�mchising was also 
formed. Both project� were expected to he 
completed by early 1996. 

INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS 
DIVISION 
In 1995, the Division continued to play a 
useful role in coordinating an active pro­
gramme to assist Chamber members in 
identifying trade and investment opponuni­
ties in overseas markets. During the year, 
20 outgoing missions and visit'\ were orga­
nized and over 250 meetings with incoming 
missions and overseas visitors were 
arranged. While these meetings were use­
ful for members in developing business 
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networking opportunities, they were also 
ideal occasions for providing a private sec­
tor business view on the current political 
and economic situation of Hong Kong. 

The Division continued to represent 
Chamber members' views on a wide variety 
of international trade and local business 
issues to appropriate authorities locally and 
overseas, including the lobbying against the 
imposition of European Unions quotas on 
cenain China made products expot1ed via 
Hong Kong and the continued lobbying for 
the extension of MFN trading status for 
China. Other lobbying e!Ions included the 
appeal against the introduction of impon 
guarantee on materials for processing 
industries in China and clarification of 
recent changes to China's tax laws. 

Outgoing Missions 
The Division had a busy and successful 
year during which it organized missions to 
the following countries: South Africa, New 
Zealand, Japan, Taiwan, Brazil, Argentina 
and East Europe and cities in China that 
indudecl Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, 
Xiamen, Chengdu, Zhubai and the Pearl 
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On the evening of the same day as the Summit, the Chamber celebrated its 135th Anniverary with 
a sell-out glittering Ball. Chairman William Fung presented mementos to encumbent taipans of the 
Standard Chartered Bank and Jardines, two founding corporate members of the Chamber. Top left: 
Financial Secretary, Donald Tsang, dancing as a guest at the Ball. Other pictures (clockwise): Peter 
Sutch, who spoke at the Business Summit urging co-operation not competition between Hong Kong 
and new ports being established on the Pearl River Delta; the Chamber tells the media of ils con­
cerns over the rising costs of doing business in Hong Kong; and the Chamber offers solutions to 
Hong Kong's problem of growing traffic congestion. 
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River Delta in Guangdong. In addition, the 
Division also organized the first Chamber 
delegation to Myamnar, the largest counliy 
in Indo China. 

Incoming Visitors 
The Division continued to host meetings 
for a large number of overseas delegations 
and visitors, including US Congressmen 
and Senators, MPs from the UK and, 
incre1singly, members from the European 
Parliament. Some distinguished and 
important visitors were H E  Suleyman 
Demirel, President of Turkey; Mr Wim 
Kok, Prime Minister of the Netherlands; 
Ambassador Tetsuya Endo, Ambassador 
Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary in 
charge of Asia Pacific Cooperation, Japan; 
Mr Wang Rong Bing, Executive Vice 
Governor of Jiangsu Province; Mr T I3 
Gurirab, Minister of Foreign Affairs of 
Namibia; Dr Konrad Neundorfer, Delegate 
General of Foreign Trade Association 
(FT A) in Europe; Ambassador Charlene 
Barshefsky, the Deputy United States 
Trade Representative; Dr Horst Krenzler, 
Director General for External Relations of 
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the European Commission in Brussels and 
!VIr Guo Dong Po, Chairman of China 
Council for the Promotion of International 
Trade (CCPIT). 

In addition, some trade committees of 
the Division also hosted dinner receptions 
for husiness networking purposes with a 
cross section of consular officials represent­
ed in Hong Kong including the US, Canada, 
Mexico, Central and South American coun­
tries and ASEAN countries. 

Hong Kong International (HKI) 
During the year, HKl continued to host 
meetings with visiting VIPs including US 
Congressmen, MPs and senior government 
officials from UK and Europe. HKI also 
arranged overseas speaking engagements 
for "HKI Ambassadors" for the promotion 
of Hong Kong's image in its major tmcling 
partners. Arrangements were made for 
some of them to be interviewed hy over­
seas media representatives. 

The Chamber in conjunction with five 
other leading trade and industly associa­
tions continued to organize a visit pro­
gramme for US Congressional Staffers who 
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were invited to visit Hong Kong and South 
China as part of the MFN lobhying effort. 
As a result, staffers gained a better under­
standing of the current situation in Hong 
Kong and its dose economic relationship 
with Southem China. 

Hong Kong-Taipei Business 
Cooperation Conunittee 
(HKTBCC) 
The HKTI3CC continued its role in pro­
moting bilateral exchanges between Hong 
Kong and Taiwan and worked closely 
with its counterpart organ ization. the 
Chinese Taipei-Hong Kong Business 
Cooperation Committee, in organizing the 
6th Joint Meeting held i n  Taipei in 
November. 

At the conclusion of the Joint Meeting. 
the Hon Paul Cheng, Chainnan of the HKT­
l3CC, and Mr C Y Kao, Chairman of the 
CTHKBCC, jointly signed a Memorandum 
of Cooperation, which provided a basis for 
further business cooperation and for 
addressing bilateral husiness issues relating 
to the Service Industries and the I3anking 
and Finance Sectors. 
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Pacific Basin Economic Council 
(PBEC) - Hong Kong Conunittee 
In 1995, membership of PBEC Hong Kong 
Committee registered a substantial increase 
from 56 to 90 members including a record 
number of 16 supporters. 

1995 was again a busy year for the 
Committee. Led by its Chairman, Dr 
Helmut Sohmen, PBEC-Hong Kong orga­
nized delegations to patticipate in the 27th 
PBEC Intemational General Meeting held in 
May in Kuala Lumpur and the PBEC 
Steering Committee Meeting in November 
in Osaka, the two most important events in 
the PBEC calendar. Concurrently with the 
Steering Committee Meeting, a Business 
Symposium was organized, with strong par­
ticipation from APEC (A�ia-Pacific Economic 
Cooperation) leaders and ministers. 

Other important activities organized 
during 1995 included meetings and lun­
cheons with a CCPIT delegation from 
Beijing; Hong Kong APEC officials and affil­
i<ltes; Ambassador Shojiro Imanishi, 
Executive Director, APEC Secretariat; 
Ambassador Wang Yusheng, Senior official 
for APEC Affairs, PRC; and Ambassador 
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Photographic records of numerous Chamber goodwill and business visits during the year included 
(clockwise): Simon Lee with important Myanmar officials during a Chamber mission to Myanmar; 
33 traders on a mission to South Africa see a traditional African dance in Johannesburg's Gold Reef 
City; C C  Tung, Chairman of the China Committee presents a souvenir to Zhu Yong Min& Executive 
Vice Mayor of Chengdu on a Chamber mission to Sichuan; Tony Fung, leader of a 23-member 
Chamber mission to Shanghai, is briefed by Shanghai Vice Mayor, Sha Lin; 10 US Congressional 
staffers on the sixth staffers' visit to Hong Kong and the Pearl River Delta are de-briefed on 
Septmber 4 by their hosts, including the Chamber. 
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Hiromoto Seki, Ambassador in charge of 
APEC, Japan. The Committee also orga­
nized two important seminars in Hong 
Kong, respectively on "Opportunity New 
Zealand" and on ''Taiwan as the Asia-Pacific 
Regional Operations Centre & its 
Complementarity to Hong Kong". 

Other Activities 
The Division continued to provide secretar­
ial services to trade and specialized com­
mittees and working groups. It organized 
subscription luncheons, business roundta­
bles and seminars for vlP visitors to discuss 
and exchange views on a variety of issues 
such as Sino-US trade relations, China's 
entry application for the \XITO, the annual 
review of tramp agency fees and charges 
for mooring services, the introduction of a 
MARPO charging scheme, extension of har­
bour limits, etc . . .  
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INDUSTRIAL AND CORPORATE 
AFFAIRS DIVISION 
Alheit from slower economic growth in 
1995, Chamber membership broke new 
record� to reach an all-time high of 4,347 
by year end. 

Over 300 members �xuticipatecl in the 
(second) Hong Kong Business Summit on 4 
December. The theme this year was 
"Managing Transition: Confidence & 
Competitiveness''. 

Close to 400 guesL� and key govemmem 
officials came together to commemorate and 
to celebwte the 135th year of the Chamber at 
a gala dinner ball also on 4 December. 

The Chamber's Spring Dinner for the 
second year running was held on 1 8  
Februa1y with more than 600 members tak­
ing p::ut. 

ln sh01t, nor only we have the largest 
membership in the Chamber's history, but 
also the widest panicipation of members in 
Chamber activities. 

Com.mittee Activities 
Small & Medium Enterprises 
Com.mittee 
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An extremely :.tctive Committee of the 
Chamber, the SME Conunittee organi�ed 18 
roundtables, 9 training courses, one mis­
sion, one seminar and a l:.trge-scale Sp1ing 
Dinner fur 600 members eluting the year. 

Moreover, ir consolidated SME's input 
into a report on rising operating costs in 
Hong Kong, followed by a second repo11 
on labour imponation. l3oth repo1ts attract­
ed much attention from the Government 
and the media, contributing to policy 
changes concerning land use and the 
labour imp01tation scheme. 

The Conunittee also discussed impor­
tant issues such as China's new tax armnge­
ment for foreign investment, Company Law 
reform, terminal handling charges, APEC 
SME initiatives and unemployment. 

Human Resources Committee 
Under the auspices of the Committee, 8 
roundtables, 43 training courses, 4 directors' 
dinners and one seminar were held this year. 

The Committee was most actively 
involved in debates with and submissions 
to the Government on equal employment 
opportunities, the Mandatory Provident 
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Fund system, unemployment and import;t­
tion of labour. 

Through its representative, Ms Angela 
Koo of Dairy F�um, on the L'lbuur Advisoty 
Board, the Conunittee contributed substan­
tially in reaching consensus with the labour 
unions on long se1vice payment, maternity 
leave, industrial safety and other employ­
ment relation issues. 

Envkonment Committee 
This high profile Committee continued to 
promote environmental awareness amongst 
members. Through its representative, Mr 
Guy Clayton of Ciba-Geigy, in the Adviso1y 
Council on Environment, it reflected the 
Chamber's view on various i�sues, includ­
ing vehicle emissions, support ro local 
industries, the third review of the White 
Paper on the Environment and sustainable 
development. 

10 roundrables, one mission, one semi­
nar and 5 inspection tours were held in the 
year. Topics covered were: PRC environ­
mental laws, harbour reclamation, se,vage 
charges, land use, road use and Dongjiang 
river water supply and water treatment. 
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Industrial Affairs Committee 
13 roundtables and one inspection tour 
were organised in the year. Topics covered 
were: manufacturing in the PRC, brand 
management, retailing in the PRC, labour 
law, trademark protection, US textile import 
control, technology development and the 
future of Hong Kong's industry. 

TI1e Conunittee suppotted the es tablish­
ment of a Science Park in Hong Kong and 
responded to the Government's consulta­
tions on eneq,'y efficiency labelling scheme, 
Toys and Children Products Safety 
Ordinance, industrial safety system and 
labour issues. It also commented on tenancy 
selection criteria of the Industrial Estates, the 
unemployment situation in Hong Kong and 
foreign invested manufacturing in the PRC. 

M�mbership Committee 
9 new members' briefings were held during 
the year, a lternately in Cantonese and 
English, to 220 members. One social tour 
was made during sununer for lychee tasting. 

Under the leadership of the 
Committee, the record membership of 
4,347 was reached at year end. 
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Clockwise: Chamber Chairman, William Fung, led 1 4  members of the General Committee and 
Council on its annual mission to Beijing in June and saw new Vice Premier Wu Bang Guo and heads 
of several Ministeries including Xiang Huai Cheng, Deputy Director of Taxation and Guo Dong Po, 
new Chairman of the CCPIT; lan Christie, Chamber Director, meets the President of India, S D 
Sharma, when he represented the Chamber at the International Chamber of Commerce's special 
council meeting in New Delhi in March; Paul Cheng presents a souvenir to the Vice Mayor of 
Xiamen during a 20-member Chamber mission to Fujian; Mdm Pan Bei lei, Chairman of China 
National Council, with C C Tung and members of his Chamber China Committee's delegation to 
Bejing in October. 
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Corporate Services 
TI1e Aclministmtion Unit organised 9 round­
tables and 1 2  training courses to provide 
management skills to member companies. 
It handled 63 race meetings to entertain 
3,635 members and guests. It also man­
aged the Chamber's Discount Club which 
now offers over 80 discount items. The 
Unit, in its role of business development, 
established a business services company 
which opened its first commercial business 
centre at Kowloon Bay in October 1995. 

The Information Unit handled 20,772 
trade enquiries and provided trade informa­
tion to 380 overseas visitors. It operated 
the phonafax system which recorded 
54,564 retrievals from members in the year. 
The system reduced mailing to members 
which was very much appreciated. 

The Publication Unit produced 1 2  
issues of the Bulletin, the Annual Report 
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and the Membership List and Trade 
Directoty in 1995. Its translation service am1 
was extended to four full-time translators, 
and a trial desk top publishing team was 
also established to take on intemal jobs. 

In addition, the Division organised the 
Chamber's Annual Meeting in April, a joint 
seminar with the Provisional Airport 
Authority on business opporttmities at Chap 
Lap Kok and 14 Chamber subscription lun­
cheons with high power speakers such as 
Chris Patten, Lord Howe, Charlene 
Barshef<>ky and Donald Tsang. 

CERTIFICATION DIVISION 
This has again been a busy year for CO 
issues. In 1995, the Chamber issued 
476,910 documents. Once again, staff 
members aimed to provide an efficient cer­
tification setvice. The electronic CO print­
ing service which was introduced in late 
1994 has been ti..n1her enhanced, so that 
over 30% of all CO received are now print­
ed by the Chamber. About 5,000 sq ft of 
office space over two floors at Silvercorp 
International Tower, Mongkok was pur­
chased by the Chamber to provide a cen-
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tralizecl certification head office. The 
Cheung Sha Wan Office was relocated to 
better and larger premises at Cheung Sha 
Wan Plaza. CO processing time has also 
been further reduced and the Chamber 
now provides a half-day seJvice in all its 
nine certification branch offices (United 
Centre, Hong Kong; Swire House, Central, 
Hong Kong; Times Square, Causeway Bay; 
Ocean Centre, Tsimshatsui; Eastpoint 
Commercial Building, Tsimshatsui East; 
Silvercoq) International Tower, Mongkok; 
Kwun Tong Harbour Plaza, Kwun Tong; 
Nan FLmg Centre, Tsuen Wan and Cheung 
Sha Wan Plaza, Lai Chi Kok). 

Certification Co-ordination 
Certification policy and issues are mainly 
dealt with by the Certification Co-ordination 
Committee, on which the Chamber is repn:­
sentecl by Mr W S Chan, Assistant Director, 
Certification Division. Five meetings of the 
Committee were held during the year. 
Major policy matters discussed included the 
ICAC's study on the cenification system, the 
revision of cenification fees, reimbursement 
of cenification costs to the Government, 
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EDI for certificate of origin and a review of 
origin criteria for some prcxlucts manufac­
tured in Hong Kong. 

Investigation 
To uphold the integrity of the certification 
system, over 12,447 consignment checks on 
certificate applications were made, of 
which, 690 applications were refused and 
79 were referred to the Trade Investigation 
Bureau of the Customs and Excise 
Depattment for hnther investigation. 

ATA Carnet 
The Chamber is the sole approved body in 
Hong Kong for the issue of ATA earners 
permitting t1:1de samples, exhibition goods 
and professional equipment to he taken 
across national frontiers without payment of 
duty. In 1995, 2,292 carnets were issued, 
which represented an increase of 14% over 
the figure for 1994. These covered goods 
totalling $1 ,926 million. During the year, 
307 disputes arising out of the functioning 
of the carnet system were settled. Among 
these disputes, 31 cases resulted in pay­
ment of customs duties. 
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Incoming Trade Mission 
In 1995, useful discussions were held with 
three incoming study missions. These mis­
sions were organized hy the China Council 
for the Promotion of International Trade 
covering Guangzhou and Xiamen and the 
State Administration of Import and Export 
Commlxlity. 

NOTE OF THANKS 
On behalf of all  the Directorate Staff T 
would like to thank all the Chamber's com­
mittee chairmen and members for their 
time and contributions during the year. We 
look f01ward to an equally busy and inter­
esting year in 1996. I welcome all Chamber 
members to join any committees which 
meet their interests. 

I. A. Christie 
Director 
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One of the Chamber's most successful grassroots annual events is its Spring Dinner (Clockwise): 
General Committee Member Lily Chiang and Second Vice Chairman James Tien, sing a duet for the 
many hundreds who celebrated the Year of the Pig; Another happy picture at the Spring Dinner 
with Denis Lee (standing), then Chairman of the organisers, the Small and Medium Enterprises 
Committee; last but not least, Chairman William Fung cuts the huge Birthday cake at the 
Chamber's 135th Anniversary Ball. 
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Hong Kong Gcnernl Chamber of Commerce 

HONG KONG PROGRESS 

Hong Kong Overall Trade lliA'D mi/1/IIJII 

1995 1994 
lmporrs 1.-tl)l.Jll 1.2�0.701) 
Don1es1 ic f.xporb 2.H.6�7 2U,()<)2 
He-exporb 1 . 1 12.-170 \.H7.')21 
Total Exports u�·l.ll7 1.170.01:'1 
Total Trade 2.1!3''>.2·11-1 2,·120.722 
Tradc· Surph" i mefidtl (1·16.9\1-1) IHO.o\)61 
Tr:1dc Gap as 'ld of Import:-. (I).H6%) (6.·1)%) 

Imports: Major Suppliers 1 HAD milflrm 1 

1995 1994 
China 'i,N,-tHO .'J70,H76 
Japan 221 .2�� 19'>.0:17 
Taiwan 12<).266 107,510 
ll.S.A. l l  'i.07H H9.5·d 
Sing;1pon..: 7H.027 6J .9(!H 
S. Korea 75.26H 575)1 

Imports: Major Products I 111\.D m/flim/1 

1995 1994 
Ele..1ric"l machine.v 
Textile yarns. fahri�·s. 

JH"i.9�.� UH.HH2 

make-up artides etc. IW.122 I IH.20S 
T de<.'( 1mmunk-;nions. 

�C:<)I'(Jing c.:quipmeJlt !4'i.')76 120,621 
�lisc.:. manufa<.·tured articles 10-J,OSI 90.9'i l 
Apparel and clothing:. etc. ')7.HH6 96.2_,7 
Orfice machint!'s/d:tt;t proct:ssing 6H.7:\7 ·lll.·16H 

Domestic Exports: Major Markers lf/KJJ m/1/i""i 

China 
l!.S.A. 
Singaport· 
Germany 
Japan 
li.K. 

199; 1994 
6-'.'\S<i 61,0()<) 
61 ,2'iO 61.·119 
1 2.2j6 12.12'\ 
12.17H ll.HJJ 
ll.H77 

Hl.')�l 

10.-t'\'\ 

10.292 

Domestic Exports: Major Products 1 fff{J) m/1/ioll i 
1995 1994 

App:trel and clothing <:le. 7.�.H() l 75.0H7 
F.lc�rricll ma�hin�ry. 

appliances �le. 
�li!'\\.·. manuE1c...·tun:d articles 
ornce machines /data pnx.·es....;ing 
J>lH>t<J�r..lpllic e4uip1nent. 

<;vatches I do�ks 
Textile )':lfllS. fabrics, 

make-up :.�nicle� & c...·rc. 

.� I .H\)(1 24.HI'\ 
19.H7o 1\1.272 
17,H66 17.623 

17.()')1 16.207 

l·l.<l30 1'\.0.�ll 

Employment Sep. '95 March '95 
Manttfacturing 
Finance. insur.tm.'t', re:tl esrate 

& husiness services 
Wholesale. retail and tmde 
Hestaumnts and hotels 
Huikling and constnll"tion 
Civil service 

Total labour force 
Unemployment r:ue (%) 
llndercmploymenr mte (%) 
Labour p;llti<..'ipation r�lte (%) 

Establishments 
Manufa�tUting 
Finance and business services 

W>.106 

37)366 

Hll,o7H 
2 1 \1, 193 

o5.H2J 
1H1.0H� 

3.11 1.1!00 
3 6  
2.3 

63.2 

Wholesale. retail. trade, restaurants and hotels 
Building :lnd construction (sites) 

W�M7 
YiU3H 

790.-170 
22·l,6'5K 

6-!.093 
li\1.97;1 

3.00'),llll0 

3.2 

2.5 
o2 .. � 

T R A D E  

Change % 
2·10.-11 2  19.22�o 

')56� 4-.. 1 Il�b 
I(H5�l) 17.56% 
17·1.11·1 1-t.Hh"lh 
-tJ.l,'il6 17.12% 

<66.2%1 RU6% 

1993 
-t02.161 
17H,O.�-t 
9.�.9(!H 
79.-tl9 
·17.Hj"i 
·lll.220 

Change % 
:\lH\1% 

tO . .i-t��o 

21 0?',. 
1-i.·lO% 

1.6711U 
·l l .Hl11·'r) 

1993 
6.L�7 
60.2<)2 
1 l.5H 
1;\,\)69 

\),677 
10.771 

Change % 
0.9H% 

21!51% 
.�.]5% 
l .jH% 

s.-6o/v 

-6.7t% 

Merchandise Trade Growth, Tliade, Balance 
200 60 

50 
40 
30 
20 

1 0  

150 I '\ Re-expom % (R;ghl) 

100 ;; '\ 
....... 

50 Total Trode % 
l 
·e 0 0 

� � ; � 
0 

"" 2: 2: :r ·50 

·100 

·150 

·200 

Re-exports: Major Markets IHA1J mr/ll"lli 

China 
L'.S.A. 

Japan 
C.ennan)' 
L'.K 
'I'aiwan 

; � 
Trade 
Balance 
(Leh) 

1995 
jH-J.(l-15 
2.'10.997 

70,0HJ 
.. �.770 
.�2.2'\7 
2".7'\H 

Re-exports: Major Countries of Origin t 1/KTJ Ill ill/or /I 
1995 

China 6Y>.:\92 
Japan U0512 
Taiw:m H5.;1o-
li.S.A. '\"i.(>56 
S. Korea .n.<>l"i 
Sing:tplm.� 21.<>7H 

Re-exports: Major Products (1/K!J millwnJ 

1995 
!\l1.�·. m:.ulufa�.·tured :lrlidt:=-' J.12,21.� 
T<.:lec.'<Hnll\llflicati<Hl. I'C'(.'<)f(hng t:>quipment I IIJ.Oil'J 
Ele<:trictl madtiner)· and appliance' 1 l·IJ>lK 
Texlile y;u·ns, f�tbric.,, 

make-up :utu.:lt>.s &. l'lc.... \12$11) 
Ankles of app:trd & dothin� ac:ct· .... :oories 9<>.9'il 
f<XJtwear 6<1.1(>7 

� � 

1994 
552.H5� 
210,0T 

.:;-!, -·J"1 
-11.617 
27 .. �1H 
22.·116 

1994 
�-t'i,H.�l 
121 .'!5(> 

72.060 
·1.�.6-H 
27.+1-1 
l �.11711 

1994 
125.2'ill 

{)l):)�2 

H.D67 

H2,1-t'\ 
')2j5'i 
'i;\.269 

"" .0 

2: " " 

1993 
2 ..... '1561 
lKIU·t\1 

+U'i6 
·IO.�l)H 
2-1.'\Y> 
21.<)10 

1993 
.. -.ux,-
JIJ<J.\1·1') 

11-1,611) 
.F.·I2·1 
l l .(>H'\ 
l l.H56 

Change % 
t ::;j«)1-h 
l<) ').,fl-1) 
j(,_H·IfliJ 

15 0211-iJ 
-1.'\0"'" 
12.l)c;•1U 

E C O N O M I C  S T R U C T U R E  

Sep. '94 Sep. '93 
�.-\H.�(J() 50H.I33 
361,072 3.�.026 

H20.52H 729.979 
2�0.665 22H.063 

60 . .W2 S2,I79 
1HO.IlHS l!l1,295 

2,974.000 2.H70.490 
2.3 
1 . 1  

62.5 

Sep '95 
31 .1 14 
4),769 

11! .. .532 

uo2 

2.0 
1 . 5  

62.3 

Nominal Wage Indic<.'S (Scp. '92 - 100) 
All selected occupations 

Sep. '95 
129.:1 
12�.6 
12')9 
UO H 
152.1 

�lanufacturing 
Wholesale. retatl & 1/E trades. n.:staurants. hotel' 
Transpott serYice:-o 
Financing, insur.tnt't:. real ��rate 

&. business services 
Pe rsonal services 

Real Wage Indices (Scp. '92 • 100) 
All selected <><.'<.:upations 
Manufacl uring 

132.K 

Sep. '95 
101.:1 

Wholesale. retail & liE t rades. rcstaur:mb. hotels 
9H.'I 

lOl.H 
102 5 
103.6 

Transpc>rt services 
Financing, insurJ.n<:e. real csrate 

&. husint:ss services 
Pers<mal services 

March '95 
32.HH\) 
46,474 

191,7H7 
1.093 

22 

Sep '94 
3l.06H 
-iH,I-iH 

1'!2,336 
1 , 104 

Sep '93 
39.23H 
·il.307 

170.0HS 
1 ,12-l 

10.�.0 

March '95 Sep. '94 
126.6 120.H 
122.-t 1 1H.\I 
127.� 111 2 
12-t . l 1 22.6 
U!.7 122.2 

12\I.H 11;\.1 

March '95 Sep. '94 
10�.1 10:1.1 
100.6 101.6 
10·1.9 103.5 
102.1 10·i.7 
10H 3 10-U 

lOll.:) 10�.1 



Banking 
fat montb eJJdJ 

No. of IKcn�t·d bank-; ( oper(tl!n,g) 
l'\o. < 1f re�trkted lken�ed banks 
1\o. of DTCs (oper,uingl 
Mon�y Supply �ll (HKD million) 
Mon�y Supply M2 (HKD million) 
Money Supply �15 ()(KO million) 
Total hank deposits ( HKD million) 
Total loans & a<h'anccs (HKD million) 

• to finance HK's visible tr�H..It' 
- to finance merchandising 

trade not touching I-lK 
- or her loans for use in Hong Kong 
- other loans for use outside HK 

Hong Kong Dolbr Prime Rate 

Stock Exchange Performance 
tat Jnonlh end) 
llang Seng Index (July ·6·1 - 1 OOJ 

- Finance 
- Utilities 
- Properties 
- Comml:'n.'e ;md indusrrv 

Hang Seng Chim Enterpri�e' Index 
(July '94 � 1,000) 

Monrhly turnover ( HKD million) 

Electricity Consumption (Terajoule) 
1ndustriJI 
C( H1HlH:�rcial 
J)()Jnest'i<: 
Total 

Motor Vehicle Registrations (Nos) 
Total licensed 

- ne\Y regi�tcred 
Private cars 

- ne\v regbrered 

Telephone I.ines - No. of working lines ('000) 
Residential 
Business 

• F:t)( 
Total 

Tourism 
Incoming Visitors (No.) 
Vi>itor Spending (HKD million) 
Occupancy Rate - Hotels (A,·erage) 

Dec. '95 
IH� 

63 

1.12 

1H9/HI 

2,265,07-l 
2 .. '146, 1\)·1 

2,20H.663 

3.737.H59 

155.737 

17,732 

U9H.027 

2.12H.252 

B.7')% 

Dec. '95 
10.07:\.-l 

9.H·"i7,0 

10.00,'1.7 
li.572.2 

7.550.0 

7'17.1 

6·1.001.7 

1995 
20.222 
)9,90H 

27.063 

l l2.H17 

1995 
466.06H 

3H.520 

2H5.4.67 
23.257 

1995 
1 .962 
l.H.'I-l 

269 
.'1.242 

1995 
10,200.000 

75,000 

H5% 

F I N A N C E  

June '95 Dec. '94 
1H5 !HO 

(H (J3 

155 1:17 

IH6.027 1H5.53-l 
2.170.679 1.993.7H6 

2.251 57-i 2.073.426 

2, 1 1 5,755 1 .941 .696 

.�.H55.H-iH 3.26-i594 
157.770 150536 

1 H.522 1-i .K.W 

1.:129,007 1 .25H.601 
2,.109.290 l .Hl9.nH 

9.00% H:)(jVu 

Sep. '94 June '95 
9.()4(\ .) 9.206.� 

9.0�4. 1  H.;\59.0 
10.'113 .0 lO.H75.9 

I6.K90.� 15.6KH.H 

7,0HH.i 6.70 1 .6 

H97.1 1 .030.5 

76,H60.2 65.75.�.\) 

Government Revenue & Expenditure IHKIJ millwni 
-GeneraJ Revenue Account 

19K9 - 90 
1990 - 91 
19\11 - 92 

1992 - 93 

1993 - 9 •  

199-i - ')5 

1995 - 96 ( estunate) 
19\)6 - 97 (budget) 

Revenue 
7-J.:l65 
H2.(>7-t 

1111.·t'ih 
120.7H1 
1-13.900 
15J, l(KJ 
lh-1. 1 ·10 

1H'i.:16U 

Exchange Rate Index (Oct. '83 = 100) 
Dec. '95 

Tmde weighted 
<Imron: & export) 
SDR 

March '95 
H5H7.1 
7.-Hn_s 

IO,-iM.9 
l-l.552H 

6.3745 
1,027.:1 

7-J,52H.S 

1225 

Dec. 194 
H.l\110 
7.3H9.l 
9.739.1 

13.523.·! 

G.L7').6 

1.(169. 7 

56355.5 

Expendin1re Surplus/(Delicit) 
69.6(\2 ·i.7U3 

H2.H.n 116;3) 

Y�.-i0l K.05') 

102.02') 1H,7'S6 

1}i,IKJO 9.900 

l-15.200 7.900 

J6J .(HO 2.')00 

IH�.7-l0 1.620 

June '95 Dec. '94 
!Hl.� 12LH 

12.!l9S 1 1 .23') 

O T H E R  I N D I C A T O R S  

1994 1993 
2S.H52 22.309 
57 ,SOH 5:1.1.'11 
21.-l.07 24,092 

l l l.:IH2 JJ(\,012 

1994 1993 
�62.·110 ·l.W.ill) 

50.29') 6-1,970 

279,420 259,H7.J 

36/>34. 4UHO 

1994 1993 
1.90H l.H.�S 
1 .206 1.121 

252 226 
3. 1 1·1 2.956 

1994 1993 
9331.156 H,9.�7.500 

6-dCXl 5H.303 

HS% H7% 

' ' I 

� 

23 

Building Conrmenced <·ooo >q. ml 1995 1994 
Residential (>KH "·•5 
C<>mmcrcial 670 415 

lndttstrial '157 752 
Toto! 1.97-i 1 .9:\H 

Gross Domestic Product (JJKD millirllli 
1994 

GDP - �tt current price 
1995 

1 . 1 1  J ..lOO 
760.HOO 
655.700 

95.300 
322..iUO 

J.OJ(>.5h7 
GDP - at constant U990J pnn: 
Private: C(msumpti(JO 
Go\·ernment CorL-;umption 
fixed Capiul Forn1ation 
;\lcrchandise trat.le balance 
Service tr�tde balance 
lncrl'ase in stock:-; 
Per Glpit;..t GDP · n.m·nt pnu· HKS 

C ! -16.\19�) 

126,300 

65.300 

179.5'i2 
Per capita GDP · �-on_-;l:mt � 199m Pnn:: 122.90H 

Consumer Prire Index (i\l H.70% 

Consumer Pric.- Index (ill 9.200-n 

Cc msumer Price Index • H:m� "�:n�� 9.60% 
Cc >nsumer Price Index - '-<>mpc.J-.n.._· 9.10% 

180,000 
Per CapitQ Gross 
Domestic Product 

{HKD} 
130,000 

80,000 

' 30,000 "' ..... m (). -� 

f 
m m m m "' "' (). "' "' 

727.'505 
590.991 

H3 .. '116 

297.23H 

(H-i.·il4) 

1 0 l .·t32 
2H,004. 

167.712 

H0.023 

H.IOJ!o 
H. M% 

10.00% 
H.HOl'a 

0: (). 
N (). (). 

1993 1992 
H05 1.62-l 

712 710 

-i.2'1 -i50 
2,261 2,967 

1993 1992 
H97.·•6:1 779.3.:15 

690.223 M0..:\47 

51-i,239 451 .670 

72,(,20 6-!.070 
2·i5. JH2 21_1.HOK 
(29.·160) t 33.'>10l 

92.5H:I 7'i.llU 
2.299 H.IK7 

151.62·1 1}1.102 
1 16.61 1 1 1 1,907 

H.S5% 9.34% 

H.71% <).6·'i% 

9.51% 9.i .. i% 
H.79% 9.6,Wa 

,., (). (). � (). 
"' (). 
(). 



The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce (Limited by Guarantee) 

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 

As at 31st December 1995 (expres�ed in Hong Kong dollars) 

!* {t � � }a fl� et< 
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AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE CHAMBER 

We ha\·e audited the account� on pages 2-i to .) l 
whirb have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generJIIy accepted in !long 
Kong. 

Respective Responsibilities of Directors 
and Auditors 
The Companies Ordinance require� the General 
Committee to prepare accounts which gh·e a tme 
and fair view. In prqxuing account� which give a 
tme and t:tir \'ie\\' it L� fundamental that appropriate 
accounting policies are selected and applied consis­
tently, that judgements and estimates arc made 
which are pmdent and reasonable and th;tt the re-.J­
sons l(>r any signiflnmt departure from applicable 
act1lUnting stand;trds ;tre �tatt'(l. 

Tt is our responsibility to fonn an independent 

ft�s e m M 6�tr�m� � � �� m � � �  

.li'� �12-t(t}f:{ J f:i (J�JlRFl 0 

l'i� &�S:JliliR9�.tff 
�� <0 �WM> m� . w�*�•� � n •  

&M+� � � o � � � x • &���� � � · 

�••m••����M · & �m-n•�� 

@iffl ; {E !Ij,i � ifaf1 9 ' FJfft;,'fJ(� :J'tJJJJi'& 1riill · 3I:! 
f PR�ta&{l-J_� ; �U:! l .fllff (•iJl!i!*!Gi��mfr 
�tf\!ll11J�1'i'ii5i'. ' �·3�Ff:J nJHlll rtl o 

m�� �ff�••� ••M•tr�•n�Q 

����1H�1t 

opinion, based on our audit, on tlto�e accounts 
and to report our opinion to you. 

Basis of Opinion 
\Ve conducted our audit in accordance \\'ith 
Statements of Auditing Standards is�ued by the 
Hong Kong Society of Accountants. An audit 
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence 
rele\·ant to the amounts and disdo�ures in the 
accounts. ll also include . .; an as..;cssment of the sig­
nificant estimates and judgemems made b)' the 
directors in the preparation of the account.;. and of 
whether the accounting policies are appmpriate to 
the Chamber and the group's circumstances, con�is­
tently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to 
obtain all the inl(Jrmation and explan;Hion.; which 
we considered necessary in order to provide u� 
with suflkient evidence to gi1·e re-.tsonable as.�tn·-

��Jlili�Jl.(ig·fldt� 
l� fP1 o9 � ll;!( I ft JJ:tii nf-! MM-r JHI!i 0 !H� :l:l fl� 
H�·!�fiiJtfiiJ I > iJHr o �JW.{@:J}iMt.J!'Iil':l'tl\M§ 
��� •m&•w�•• · � �Mm��� • 

m� �:::� �H,t�:k1�iat & ;l!tJJIJTF.JTtt ili o� ;wfb • ?r ,n 
a R� N W �--��M � &R N �m - tta 
!i!!i Jfl , W l.hl N � '11\'tt!!. tF HH!Itri.'if • 

ft�m�&�ft�aitF · � �M���� 

•m��M�aM&Mff · W �-� � �•m 

:k:kf.r�.liiili w �:�: �J.Ill !ltl �ll n� ;n]J mw o <:ttii l� 
�JW.{Cf!i:t!.Jl� • l��'11JF '� ��� tJ:P.M 0 qqiJi OijytJ 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

ance as to whether the accounts ;tre free from mate­
tit! misst;ttemcnl. In l(>rming our opinion we also 
evaluated the mwall adequacy of the presentation 
of inf(>mtation in the account.;. We beliel'e that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the accounts gh·e a true and l:tir 
l'icw, in all material re�pccts, of the swte of the 
Chamber :md of the groups as :tt 31st December. 
19')5 and of the gmup's surplus and r;tsh flows f(>r 
the )'C'Jr then ended and have been properly pre­
pared in accordance with tbe Cotllpanies Ordinance. 

Signed KPMG Peat Marwick 
Cet1ificd Public Accountants 11th �'larch 19% 

oWi 'f H� � le  'lli. ·�.!: o .f� fi'HI I{;; · fU'J ti'� #< � 
-��-��QQ �Wm T-�fr���W · 
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Fixed Assets 

Unlisted Investment 

Marketable Securities Managed by 
Investment Manager 

Current Assets 
AccounLo; with Investment Manager 
Debtors and !'repayments 
Bank :md Cash Bafances 

Current Liabilities 
Creditors and Accntals 
Subscriptions Received in Ad\'ance 
Taxation 
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Note 
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5 

6 

7 

H(bl 

1995 
$OOO's 

69,945 

26,547 

2,506 
4,73ll 

16.795 

24,039 

120,531 

10.523 
10,1l36 

H 

21,367 

99,164 

199-t 
SOOO's 
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5,875 

19.610 

2. 1% 
·i.-h6 

) I), ]()2 

17,1 2-i 

1 08,96-t 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (continued) 

General Fund 

Approved by the General Conumttec on 1 1th :>larch 1996 

William Fung, our.JP 
Robert Savage 
I A Christie, cs•. Mc 
Price Waterhouse 
(Cetti!led Public Accountant�) 

Chairman 
Vice Chairman 

Director 

Trcasttrers 

The nott's on pages 27 to .:H form part of the:;e ;uxounts 

BALANCE SHEET 
As at 31st December 1995 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Fixed Assets 

Investment in Subsidiary 

Unlisted Investment 

Marketable Securities Managed by 
Investment Manager 

Current Assets 
Account.' \\'ith lnn:stment .'l'lanager 
Debtors and Prepayments 
Bank and Cash Balances 

Current Liabilities 
Creditors and Accruals 
Subscriptions Received in Ach-ance 
Taxation 

General Fund 

Approved by the Gcncr;il Committee on 11th \larch 1996 

William Fung, oHE,JP 
Robert Savage 
I A Christie, cB£. Me 
Price Waterhouse 
(Cenifkd Public Accountant�) 

ChairmJn 
Vice Chairman 
Director 

Treasurers 

The notes on pages 2i to 31 form part of these accounts. 

liH :Jl 
Note 

1w1 at 
Note 

.)(b) 

5 

6 

7 

H(hl 

1995 
$OOO's 

99,164 

1995 
$000's 

68,142 

2,551 

26,547 

2.506 

·i.59.'1 
16,77-l 

23,673 

120,913 

10.46H 

10.H36 

8 

21,312 

99,601 

99,601 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 
For the year ended 31st December 1995 pf.t Jl 
(expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Income 
Members· Subscriptions 
Fees 

25 

Note 

9 

1995 
$000's 

13,H50 

51.458 

199-t 
$OOO's 

')1,011 

199-i 
$000's 

66355 

5,875 

19,610 

2. l% 
-1,-(l(J 

11 1. lh2 

17.124 

108.964 

-. ) <JH 

1 1 1 1')1 

Ill 

17.953 

91.011 

91.011 

1994 
SOOO's 

12.82-
·!H. 'i 0 -1 



The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce (Limited by Guarantee) 

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 

As at 31st December 1995 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 
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CONSOLlDATED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT (continued) 

j;f·t �t. 
Income (cuutinuedJ Note 1995 

$OOO's 

lnten.:st and Dividends 10  1.910 
Profit on Dbposal of Markc:t:thk St:curitic:s 2'X! 
Publications and Promotion Jl  59-i 

67,902 
Expenditure 

Staff 1 2  $6.764 
Office u 10,710 
Ser>"ices 14  2.497 
Deprt>ciation IS  :\,4H3 
Exchange Oifference 121 
Subscriptions and Donations 16 160 

53,735 

Operating Surplus 14,167 

Provision Against Investment 5 5,875 

Surplus Before Taxation 8,292 

Taxation ll (:rl 139 

Surplus After Taxation 17 8,153 

General Fund Brought Forward 91,011 

General Fund Carried Forward 99,164 

·nlt· nott:s on p�1�es 27 to �1 form pan of tht"st: accounts. 

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
For the year ended 31st December 1995 liH �t 
(expressed in Hong Kong dollars) Note 1995 

$OOO's 

Net Cash Inflow From Operating Activities (a) lll,697 

Returns on Investments and Servicing of Finance 
Interest and dividends received l,ll-ill 

Net Cash Inflow From Returns on Investments 
and Servicing of Finance l.ll-lll 

Taxation 
Profits tax paid (192) 

Investing Activities 
Purchase of fixed assets (7,087) 
Purchase of unlisted investment 
Purchase of marketable securities (37,306) 
Sale of fixed assets 14 
Sale of marketable securities 30,659 

Net Cash Outflow From Investment Activities (13,720) 

Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,633 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at lst]anuary 10,162 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 31st December 16,795 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

(a) Reconciliation of surpltl� before taxation to net cash innow from operating at1i\'ities 

26 
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66,1 09 

:\ ·1.112H 

X ') rl 
2. ' 1 1)  
2 1h r 
1 .21 12 

)l)l) 

-tl!.ll5J 

17.256 

17,.!56 

176 

17,080 

73,9:\1 

9I,Ol l  

199-! 
$000's 

•>.11.'� 

.! (H 2 

1JH2 

(159) 

05.902) 
(3,875) 

(27,781) 
1 

-l3,5HI 

(2.f,039) 

(12,519) 
22,681 

10.162 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (colltillued) 

Surplus before.: t<I:Xation 
Interest and dividends received 
Profit on disposal of marketable securities 
Depredation 
Provision against investment 
Increase in accounts with investment manager 
Decrease/(lncrcasc) in debtors and prepaymenrs 
lncreasef(f)c.:m:asc) in creditors :111d accruals 
Increasc/(Dcneasc) in subscriptions received in adv:mcc 

Net cash innow from operating a�1ivities 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
(expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

1. Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Basis of Co11solidalio11 

1995 
$ODD's 

H,292 
(1,910) 

1290) 
3.48.3 
5,H75 
12-iHJ 

28 
3,125 

3-i2 

18.697 

199-1 
$000'� 

1-.2;;,, 

1 2.N :; I ) 
1 1.,'0.'\1 

2 [(q 

1 1-:'!21 

I <) [  [ I  

15 Wl 1 

I H.� 2 � 

<J.u.r 

The consolidated accounts include the accounts of the Chamber and its subsidiary made.: up to 31 
December 1995. All material intercompany transactions arc eliminated on consolidation. 

(b) I11vestme11t ill Subsidiary 
Investment in subsidiary is stated at cost le.'>� any provision for diminution in 1·alue which is 
considered to he of a permanent nature. 

(c) IIICOIIIe Recog11iti011 
Income b r�mgni�d when e:uned and b accounted for on an accrual h�1sis. 

(d) Ei:.·ed Assets 
With the.: exception of the property occupied by the.: Director of the Chamhc.:r which has been fully 
"Titten off against the surplus on disposal of a previous residence, flxc.:d assers are s tated at cost 
less depredation. Properties are depreciated m·er a period of forty years from the d;ne of 
a.:quisition. Computer sofm·are will be depredated on a �lrJight line basis o1-cr it> useful !if� which 
is estimated at 3 year.; starting from the time the economic benefits begin to accme. Other fixed 
assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives at the following ran:s on a straight line basis: 
Fumitun:, fittings and office equipment J()O,(, to 2Q<l/o p.a. on cost 
Motor vehicle 20"/o p.a. on cost 

(e) Uulisted !11vestmeut 
L'nlisted investment is stated at cost less any provision for diminution in value which is considered 

to he of a pennanent nature. 

(0 Markelab/e Sect/1'/ties Ma11aged by Itwestme11t Mmtager 
Listed investments and other marketable securities �m: ;tared at the lower of cost and marker 
value on a portfolio basis. 

(g) Operati11g Leases 
Payment> under oper.uing lc.:a�s are charged to the income and expenditure account m·er the 
applicabk periods of the respc.:(1ive leases. 

(h) Stalio11e1y n11d Supplies 
Sl:ltioncry and supplies arc writrcn ofT on purchase . 

(i) Trallsitllioll of F01·eig11 Cun·e11cies 
Foreign currency trJnsat1ion during the year an: transbtcd in Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates 
mling at the transaction dat�s. i\1onetary asset' and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into 
Hong Kong dollars at th� m;u·k�t exchange rates mling al the balance sheet dale. Exchange gains 
and losses on foreign currency t1:mshttion are de:1lt with in the inwme and c.:xpendnurc account. 

2. Turnover 
Turnowr consists of fees. members' subscriptions. interest. dividends �lnd incomt• from publications 
and promotion. 
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce (Limit�!<:! by Guarantee) 

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 

As at 31st December 1995 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

!* � � ii la f(t t< 
� 1 9 !l '> If I 2 il 3 I B · �l iiHIH.'i P: .  

fJ£ 13/Jf.nt I fi{J NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 

3. �1�rt� 3. Fixed Asset 

(a) �'*' (a) Co11soTidated 
�� �A · *  ¥\lit mni.Hit# �at 

e a� .a: iit (J� ft.&l¥0 
fi:l9lfllf.\� ) *i!ll:ffll 

Properties Furniture 
(in Hong Kong fittings 

held on and office Motor Computer 
long IC'ases) equipment vehicle software Total 

$,000's $,000'5 $,000'5 $,000's $,000's 

lfi.(il Cost 
In 199."> 1f 1 R H l  At lst.fanuary 199"> ().i.HO') 11 .023 21-i 76.():!(> 

74'i j•[ Additions 4,100 2,9H7 7.0H7 

::fl t'f  Disrx�-;als (227) (227) 

In 199:i.'<F 12J:l :ll t:l At 31st lkccmhcr 199) 64.H09 l�.h'<)(i 21� 2.9H7 H2.906 

#TV� Depreciation 
n�' !995�FI .Fl l l'l  At lst.January 1995 6,00j ; .. 17-i 21-i 9.6<.H 

1f�f};j 1fi11� Charge for the year 1.5ll7 I,H)J }J'\H 

1¥P>lHlWIDim Written back on disp<>sab (16HJ (16HJ 

u� J995lJ':l2.Fl:l l l:l 
At :31st fX:cember 1995 7590 5.157 21� 12.%1 

--

��Rmm O!l Net J3ook Value 

In 1995� 1 2 J:l  :ll El At 3 bt fX:cemhc:!f 1995 57,219 9,739 2.9H7 69.�).1') 
-- -- - -- --

/ni99-I�i£ I2Ji 3 I  a At 31st fX:ceml)(;!r 1994 SH.006 7.549 66.3)5 
-- -- - -- --

(b) Jajlljtf (b) 1be Cbamber 

Cost 
Jjj(O'f At1sr January 1995 �.009 11,023 21� 76,0-i6 
� 199j{fl} =j I t:l Additions 2.201 2,9ll7 5.1HH 

j;f,\ IN' Jl Oisp<lsals (227) (227) 

tll !!f 
At 31st Da·ember 1995 �.009 12,997 214 2,9H7 Hl,007 

� 19954= t2R 31  A 

.Jfiiti 
Depreciation 
At 1st January 1995 6,003 3.474 m 9,691 

n�l99j1flf:I I G Charge for the year l.)H7 1,755 3.3-i2 
1fpgJ1Tlfi Wrint:n hack on disposals (16H) ( 16HJ 

'f' P>l tB1!HHiill 
At 31st December 1995 7.590 5,061 214 12,H65 

� 1 99.'i� 121l 3 1 13 
-- -- - -- --

Net Book Value 
!I!�Wi-�(Jl Ar 31st Det'ember 1995 57,219 7,936 2,9!17 68,142 

/ni99.'>� I2fl 3 1 a --

Ar 31st Deceml)(;!r 1994 58.!l06 7,549 66.355 

In 199-l.'.f 1 2f:l 3 1 8 -- -- - -- --

4. :tERt.l$0lU��ft 
4. Investment in Subsidiary 

1995 199-i 
$000'5 $000's 

�kt rn JN ffi . * !f.l O!l mr 
Unlisted shares, at cost 10 
Amount clue by subsidiary 2,541 

l�-t�0ffln�x� 
2,551 
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7. J!Nft�J!I!llltP 

SffiH*���mQMY&M��-��- · � � N  

r.t�J!R�Ht . m��n : 

tl*mp 1*.@.1 
@l�l·.f1J.Q. 

8. &JJ'i 

(a) �Jril-� ?l'l&.:idH'F&IA1tl9f!i�8f.li : -

.ffil<fi:$�ia!irii"!'��f!iififi{J:J,Ill.'fS16.S%fitJr.(J� 

tiUJI!Hli. i\t fli\' 

*�*! &&m�&A � *��••m•M�m 

1!1. • 

Investment in Subsidi.'U'}' (couthwed) 

The �·holly omu�d subsidiary company is Ch;mJher SetTices Limited. incorporated in Hong Kong. 
whose principal activitives arc opcr�uing a business centre �1nd the provision of busmess related 
SCJ"\'ic.:CS. 

s. Unlisted Investment 

Share in Traddink Electronic Dowment 
Services Limited ("Traddink" ). at cost 
Provision against lnve>tment 

1995 
$OOO's 

'i.H7) 
IS.H7Sl 

199-i 
SOOO's 

The Chamber Ius undertaken to provide financial support to Traddink to cnhle it to continue as a 
going concem, pro-rata to it' investment in Tmddink. 

The Chamber considers it pmdcnt to prmide fully against the itn-estnK'nt in Traddink. 

6. Marketable Securities Managed by Investment Manager 

At rost 
Listed investments: - Hong Kong 

- Overs�as 

Unlisted inl'<:stmcnts 

Market V:1lue 
Listed I nwstmenrs: - Hong Kong 

- On�r.o;eas 

Unlisted investments 

Unlisted investments comprbe bonds and marketable instruments 

7. Accounts with Investment Manager 

1995 
$000'5 

-i.IO.� 
Hl.622 

22,725 

.�.822 

26.5ct7 

5.79.� 
19,966 

25.759 

-t013 

29.772 

199-i 
sooo·s 

5 ��)� 
t) -21 1  

1 -\  2H'I 

11.521 

l�_ll lt l 

!. Ill:\ 
ll. i9<l 

1 5.W2 

h. ill'i 

21l_IKI-

These comprise o1sh balances in current account' together with acu11ed interest on bontb, subje<:t 
to management by the investment manager as follo\\'s: 

Currem Accounts (interest hearing) 
Accrued lntert:st 

1995 
$OOO's 

2.252 
274 

199-i 
SOOO's 

I 'IH� 
212 

2.506 2. 1% 

8. Ta.-..:ation 
1995 

$OOO's 

(a) Taxation in the omsolidated income and expenditure account represents:­
Pro,·ision for Hong Kong profits tax based on the estimated 
assel'."<lble profit for the year at 16.)% 139 

199-i 
SOOO's 

The Chamber is liable to protlts wx on net surpluses earned other th�1n those arising from 
subscriptions and fee income. 

(h) Taxation in the balance sheers represents:-
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce (Limited by Guarantee) 

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 

As at 31st December 1995 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

� # i't � fa $1 * 
fi� I �� � :i IF I 2 Jj :l I 1:1 I �;.( ilt 'II'Hi'i 1): ·' 

:fitJJ( r.#ffi Taxation (contiuued) 1995 199-t 
$OOO's $000's 

:4d!' lit i§: ill! fljjf} :!>?. � 1/li Provision for Hong Kong protlts tax for the ye;�r l .W 1-h 
E. HlTI�f1lf!Hll. Prol"isional profits tax (Y.lid (131) t 1 1 � 1  

H (I ) 

9. �JiH� 9. Fees 
1995 199-t 

$OOO's $000's 

�����qi{A Gros.' fee income )5.567 12.--' 
lill!£HH!l:Jf5:Jf1 Rcimhursemo:nt to the 1 long Kong Govemment <4.1091 { 1.2h')l 

5l ,.15H JK5< 1 1 

10. ltlk.�&htll 10. Interest and Dividends 
1995 199-f 

$OOO's SOOO's 

li:WJ#.:i/:&�ijli� it::?:fif}�. Interest on Time Deposits and Staff Loans H2<) -(,� 
,jilf.!\J. &M fif- J.: i1H1t l"i Interest and Dil'idends: - Listed ln\'estmcnts 1.020 I 'i.) o 

- :tUil!tif�.lltJl< - Other M3rkctable Sccuritil:s 6! -)-)� 

1.910 2 . :--:!) I 

11. tUJ&&m� 11. Publications and Promotion 
1995 199-t 

$OOO's $OOO's 

i&A : tlJ J(fi  
Income from: - Publications 2.163 2.<121> 

ll.!JilliHfi - Sundry seovices 5.9-i9 l .H 'I2 

:t:� : tlJJ:fij'(.Jfl ll, l l 2  5.'1 1H 
� � &ii!iff!IJt!Ui� 
�U!r & 0:P<Klltf 

Expenditure on: - Puhlication.' 2.3H<) .! .:;):-; 
- Trade and l'rogr:unme Promotion '5,271 I>') I 
- Advertising and Public Relations SH KS 

7,71H �.2'r 

�q�A Net income 39·1 (>2 1 

12. fU'\ 12. Staff 
1995 199-t 

$OOO's SOOO's 

fif'iz. · ���i:&I¥Hli 
lrlUHI! 1H�J!Zf.JUx Salaries, Bonus and Allowances 30,)58 T --1 
�tll?it'f!l.i:&t�m 

Contribmion to Staff Retirement Fund 3,262 .! \) ;2 
Staff Quarrers Rental and Expenses 1,ll57 I .K�h 

��P-�m .Medical Expenses 557 -(�I 

i!UUIH�tllllti Passages and Leave Allowances 4�0 ){) ) 
tl'il\IIJ&nn� Tmining and Recruiting 90 I 'X> 

36,764 .'\J I I2K 

13. ltJJf* 13. Office 
1995 199-l 

$OOO's SOOO's 

.fll.'iz.lHHJiil Rent and Rates 4,629 1.111-1 
tll:Jli Light and Power 170 1 lH 
ili:�HI: Telephone H!4 1.'>6 
fnJP�r · ::t.ft. Printing and Stationery 1.761 I 15 + 

jt\�� !'os tag�: 1,049 -,,.i 
-�*� ' *� ·  ii'l� Maintenance, Repairs and Cleaning 2,296 I (H:\ 

�¥1!. 13ooks and Newspapers 87 ')-
f.t.Itr'et (;;j;:tt!i) Local Travelling 169 1()1) 
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nllitlll':k 
�Jf!l#l:X 

Wl/.\tJI': 
jj)fili'f'i 
itf.il&J.fHlH� 

�tJH� 
� ti;lli�l&t'! 
fM.®JJ.t 

lfill:i!�i>\1't'MH•1 

tJH!i �liE 'fi� A� �JJ1 

r.tVJ�mt<rr� 
Rfl &t:ll!�/Uf'JHHh 

an §1Hl!VJtJ\nk - J®illit<r 
�Hffl;l0nJ 

18. fi*lftl.('] 
Y£ I9�s"I' I 2fl3 l  El , ***91JJ\I!R.rJ'ia'�!'!!lH'fi<f>:ifdti'i 

�n : 

EJJH!t llf fE! :H'if itr il" �� 

E.!ff##.1 

19. W.�ift!m 
R I 99.'lif: I2Yl3 1 8 ' .�\t!illifi*iW.:l:Jll!&w.t"f:�iillff.l�� 

li'(fifl.lt'FJii.l(if;ft:}(!(J*,J.:fiUil� : 

ffi.#-1 : 
I if: Jl-1 W!!li'i 

- I1f.f£i!!s"f!XJWiiH'i 

20. a.LUlH!> fff.ltHM 
*��••t &rn•0jj)!XJ�fi�ft*�• amm­

� i �m•���� nm���M · MM !XJ OO � � �  

mw•�•�•� · m�*h�ma � a ��ll'l:tU 

�ll!H:I (llfHHf�I2JJil 'PiU!Vf- • 

Office (coutimted) 

Motor Car Expenses 
Sundry Expenses 

14. Services 

Audit Fee 
Treasurers' Fee 
Legal and Professional Fees 
Computing Fees 
Tnvcstmcnt Managers' Fees 
lnsurJnce 

15. Depreciation 

Depredation on Fixed Asset\ 
Loss on disposal of Fixed Assel\ 

16. Subscriptions and Donations 

Trade Organisations' Subscriptions 
Educational and Economic Research Sponsorship 

17. Surplus after Taxation 

Dealt with in the accounts of: - The Chamber 
- The Subsidiary 

18. Capital Commitments 

1995 199-l 
$OOO's sooo·s 

l{\ XI I 
2ll2 2-o 

10,710 � ·)·11 

1995 199-l 
$OOO's SOOO's 

1Hl 12'! 
3<KJ 2-11 
329 21)1 1 

1.0K2 l.W l 
153 2 1.:; 
452 � 1 1 

2.-}97 2. )19 

1995 199"f 
$OOO's $OOO's 

}43K 2. l l> i  
45 

3 . .:ill3 2. H> l 

1995 199-l 
$OOO's sooo·s 

94 1 19 
66 HI I 

160 !<)<) 

1995 199'1 
$OOO's $OOO's 

8.590 , - .llKi l 
(-i37l 

H.l53 , -.1 ,'-l(l 

Capital tummitmcnts ouNanding at 31st December 1995 not provided for in the account'> were a.' follows: 

Authorised but not contmcted for 
Contracted for 

19. Lease Commitments 

Consolidated The Chamber 
1995 199-i 1995 199-i 

$OOO's $000'� $OOO's $000 's 

-IA3H 
29H 

4A3H 
29H 

At 31st December 1995. there were commitments under operating leases in respect of land and 
buildings to make payments in the next year as follows:-

Leases expiring: 
- Within one year 
- After one year but within five years 

20. Staff Retirement Scheme 

Consolidated 
1995 199-i 

$OOO's $OOO's 

1.127 1 . 1 1 �  
4.510 :I. H2l) 

5.637 I.<) ! I 

The Chamber 
1995 199-f 

$000's sooo·s 

1.127 l . l !S 
3.H26 :\ . H21J 

4.953 ·!,<)·11 

The Chamber operates a defmed contribution swlf retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying staff of 
the Chamber and its subsidiary. The assets of the scheme are held separately by an investment 
manager. Contrihutions applicable to each year are charged to the income and expenditure account 
for the year (note 12). 
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L I S T  O F C O M M I T T E E C H A I R M E N  
� Q fr ± r.?i � �. 

AMERICAS COMMITfEE 

.\lr !(<�>eft Dorfman 

l(."bairmmll 

MrHY Hung 
I \  "ice C.1JalrmutiJ 

ARAB & AFRICAN COMMITfEE 

�lr ��nil� S Shrofl 

1<.1xtirmanl 

�lr �l I> \·��r 
f \.ice Gl.mirmauJ 

Mr Lawrence Fung 
f\.'ice CbaimwnJ 

ASIA COMMITTEE 

�lr Andrew Yum 

l(})(lirmmtl 

�lr Joseph Pcx>n 

l l "!re C!Jait111mtl 

CHINA COMMITTEE 

�lr C C  Tung 
IO;aimuml 

�lr Tuny Fung 

1\.iceO;aimuml 

;X: l!ll :f !Hf 

11: )Jo� ll]j ;\; 1:. 

I ;E JN; I 

i!t R. fl"  ;\;1:. 

I oillJ :tJ.Vi I 

!H�i;\;1:. 
l :l: ft' l  
52 &Ut �  

( /ItJ ::E ft' l  
j}!j fs'». 1c!f. 
l! lU W.  I 

.!lli l!ll fHl. -£r 

� UW. � it !£  
t i lt'  I 
iilf!HOC!E 
l ilU W. I  

M li l!t 1i:!f. 

l i ft' I 
tl!) ,j( � jt !f_  
r �H 11/i l  

EUROPE COMMITTEE 

1\lr ll:wid J Rimm�r 

IOmirmtllll 

�lr .\lanohar Chugh 
f �"ice C.1Jai,.man J 

SHIPPING COMMIT1'EE 

�lr D:"y Ho 

rCbainmltJJ 

Mr Terence Sit 
ll"tceCbainnanJ 

ENVIRONMENT COMMflTEE 

�Jr.; \.<tlherine Bacon 
rOxtimutttl 

Mr Alessandro Scrpe!ti 

llkeOHtilmmtl 

HUMA1'i RESOURCES 

COMM11TEE 

Mr Peter llarrerr 

IO;ainlltii/J 
�Is Angchr K<xJ 
l!'ite CbaimwnJ 

14 :k 1W  it� 

I .=E I.t J  

� � fll it �  

I I.!!J: :f:J.t I 

fiil !ll � :iH  
I .=E I.t l  
� :ln!t :iU  
I &jlj I I/G  l 

J't.i'li lH: t  
1 1.. 1/G I 
!l iillill! ;\;1: 
1/ ,{tJ.t J.t I 

ll£ ?.Ht'.t 
I 1: Jm  I 
ijJ ;t :ff:!( ±  
l i'iH I$ 1  
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INDUSTRIAL AFFAIRS 

COMMITTEE 

nu� Hcmjanlt"S Tk·n. OIIE.JI' 
IG1Jtllrmanl 
\lr O:rwJ C D:oSilv<�. 

f l .il..'t' CbairmmrJ 

MEMBERSHIP COMMI1TEE 

M.-. F:Hlny P l.;ti 

rcboirnlllll) 

SMALL AND MEDIUM ENTERPRISE 

COMMilTEE 

Ms Maria Cheung 

(!oinf(.1Juirman) 

M• Fanny Lai 

(loiut ()JmrmanJ 

tvb Norman Cheung 
f \ 'ice (.JJairmauJ 

Ms Phyllis Kwong 

Ilk·� Cbai11111111 I 

TEXTILES COMMITfEE 

Mr Just inK H Yue. 'lllE 

IC!Jainna.l) 

ffi jt l!i:N n 

l ±lf. l  
;l!i flJ '4" it'£ 
I /.!11::1:11/i I 

� liHHfi :!( ±  
I ::Elm l 

� !H k ftij?::!( t 
I 1!11 fr ±: If  I 
� ff t H H t  
( J!ll fr 1. 11/i  I 
�F< m M: )\; !f. 

I UU: JN; J  

;J; �O'H t  
I 1.\IJ. t � J 

Mr Lmcoln Yung. Jl' 
f l"ic(! Cbairmrm J 

ECONOMIC POUCY 

COMMm'EE 

�·lr Martin Barrow. oHl JP 
I Chairman! 

LEGAL COMMITTEE 

�lr GJ Terry 
f(}Jaimum J 

TAXATION COMMITTEE 

�lr Rudenr S:o�<' 
IC/Jaimll/111 

CHINA TAX GROUP 

�\lr Rex Young: 

!Chairman! 

�Hl' IU 'f. 
I liA  :t INi I 

� fci )\;'.J:. 
I ±. If.  I 

llll if HI1 9i: '1=. 
( ±:lm I 

i!t m rt\ ;tc j:  
l t fi/i l 

� Mi .t it'£ 
I 1: If. I 
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C O M M I T T E E S  

?} �i * 

HONG KONG COALITION 

OF SERVICE I NDUSTRIES 

EXECUTIVE COMMfiTEE 
!l.lr T Brian Stl·,·en:-;on 
fc:LJ oimumJ 

�lr Stanky Ko 
ft"ice ChairnwnJ 

� !r .�like Btx >th 
�Is Alice Ch:tn 
�lr John C]J;m 
!\lr Gannen Chan 
�lr J:tn Christie. usr MC 
�-Ir Stt'Vl' Dickinson 
�tr Thoma,..; Dumon 
�·Ir Henrv GoiUstein 
Mr Anth;,ny Grilntl" 
�lr Kwok Kwok-chuen 
�.Jr Pan] Lo\\·nde' 
�Ir Dennis Pt'dini 
�L< �largarct H11i 
�h Glacks Li. <,K: 

�!r Mich;tel Li 
Mr \\'illy l.in 
�·lr .J;ttnes l.u 
�·lr Ge<>rfre)' Sin1mons 
Mr Clement Yeung 
The Hon Howard Young. w 

FINANCIAL SERVICES C.OMMllTEE 
M .. r Thomas Dunton 
!Chairmaul 

INFOfu\I'A TION SERVICES 
COMMITIEE 
.\lr Henry Gokbtein 
((./JaimwnJ 

i'A fH H 1  ff 
li!i X:(,:; :it 't 
t :ti � I 
,:·:, re: J1! � 4. 

( ;liJI J$ 1  
iJ!i /:\J t 't  

ll.li fi(l (P� tHl! 
IW':i< Kil � �  
P1f IIHi: 't  
tfr f± lt 5I: 't 

!lll � (;i � 'f. 

�,;!fj'>'i' 5\: 'J:  
IH � ltlt:'t 

l!:fJ Jc JJIH15 � 1{ ff 
�jl !/t C�( it 't 
( :J: 1.?; I 

ft liJ\ JJIH15 � !H r 
,:�j � \t � '£ 

( 3: 11/; ) 

J,HJ! 1: fit � L1 1r 

hll ;:\ it �  

t :t JR; l 

W 'f! JJ!l J15 � U ff  
Nr ffHfJl it 't 

( t ffl;' l  

�[ [il Jl� Jt 't  
�1HH 7t't 
fitlJ!! (- �'f. 

i!tiletecit't 

Wt �r. k'll Y. t: 
.t .U H < t  
'hi\ lJ<U' c 'f.. 
fi;','(Jil: ;t'E 
� rM i'i! 7t '1: 
llU:: f± it'l: 

1\l j.',' lti. 11: 'f. 
HHH':& tl 

INFRASl'RUCTIJRE PROJECTS 
COMMfiTEE 
\lr \like llooth 
t Chnirmen) 

PROFESSIONAl. SERVICF.S 
COMMITTEE 
\lr :\ntllol1\ (inthth:-. 
tC1.1airmal;l 

REAl. ESTATE SERVICES 
COMMflTEE 
�lr Nichohs Brook(.' 
r CbairmeltJ 

STATISTICS C0l\1MITIEE 
\lr Kwok Kwok·t·lluen 
rcJ.,airmauJ 

TRANSPORT/DIS1RIBU1'ION 
SERVICES COMMil'l'EE 
\lr St:mle\· f\() 
rc1,airnuluJ 

TRA VEUl'OURISM COi\IMITil:E 
\lr J�unt'� Lu 
ronu.·enurJ 

HONG KONG 

INTERNATIONAL 

STEERING COMMil.I'EE 
lh� lion Pcml �I r (:lit:ng 
rc.1,airmallJ 
\Ir \tart in Barrow. om 
f l 'n:e(1wirmtmJ 

.\1r Cban \\'ing Kl'e 

Jl!! ftl'i Jl!I ii} � Ll 1r  
lil, i!t ilt 'lt:'L 
( l: J$ 1  

.r£ ll� t�e ;11· � n '* 
�!ail ¥: it 't 

1 u �; 1  

� � � � Ht  JJI! ffl �  n 1r 

,:;l it ll! l't: 'f.  
I t ffl;' l  

MO!tt tll A' Jlii ffl � t1 ff 
M rWJ ?i! it 't 
I li li: A I  

�; lljJ ;;JI!.:Jt il 
I t. !N; I 
!I! ,lf. i\:: '1: 
I MrJ tr,?; I 
��r ,j( m 1t '1 
1� �! '(')' �1i I· 
liT fl; !r. it 'I= 
\'1; .'/}, !li j\_ 'J. 
H ;T)) HI) 7t 't 
h l'\! il::'t 

Wiro t;; il:: t. 
il! M llfr l.t. l 
jfrfftJ'J! i\; 'k 
1!i fij!lft it �. 
olf t.i lll! it t  
I ilJ!�1 0 I 

�): f:!l f(lj it 'k 
't �IJ � 'le  '1. 
Ill �t 1\t ;& ll 
1 M; .,!1 it 'J:. 

33 

nr H:l�·mund ClfJL'I1 
;\lr f.tn Chn:--tlt'.l Ill-'. �¥ 
.\lr �tc·plwn Clark 
.\lr Hohnl- Dmfman 
.\lr Kenneth F:1ng. H' 
,\lr Dougl:t.., fergu.-;:..;on 
,\b t\nm: Forn:st 
:\lr ,\nthonv t;rilllth.< 
.\lr Pllilip \klrn)\xi 
.\lr J\errr .\ktJJynn f(Jhsener) 

\lr \l'illiam 01 �rholt 
.\lr .\ltu1in Spurril·1 
lhl' Hnn Jdll1l"\ TiL·n. oBt- _!!' 
;\lr Dl'nl)ls Ting. om Jl' 

PACIFIC BASIN 

ECONOMIC COUNCIL 

HONG KONG COMMITTEE 

l)r l ldmut :\(1hmen. <HH·. rcbatrmanJ 
,\lr .I P Ll"'t.', 'I I�� 11' f l 'ic:e Chairman I 
.\lr .l<1hn .\I t;ray f l'1<:e C./laimwuJ 

:\lr .\l:trtm lklrrow. om 
�lr !;m Chrbtie.nn- \1< 
r })in.!<./ or General 1 
\lr �te1·e Clark 
,\lr Cmnmg Fok 
.\lr f>ougl:l" Forgu�..,on 
.\lr John 1; Kilr<ll' 
:\lr t<;tbrid C .\1 """' 

�lr .Jerome lai 
Tlu.: I Ion Allen Lee. I.IW FIII\11.-. IP 
r Jmmedw/(' jNISI presulelll J • 

;\fr Per-er .\lnubon 
.\lr P:ttrick Paul f1h�asttrc.•r) 

.\lr Da\'id C Ruan 
.\lr Pmll P f) '\milh 

4 PtJ t ll'i I· 
I i'. rf/; 1  
t i'�Ji'; it'� 
I /JIJ l:ffl; I 
�1 iK it't 
l l.ill i:fi{, l 
J!i!l .1� it'l· 
lli fi: @ A. 'l: 

I ;t\ rf1f I 
�1;\r.W i'c'J: 
il\tt\f. iVl­
ft11 �� i(: it 't 

i'A h � H ff  
�i; I�J ;JII ;{( �l 
I f:/1(, I 
tl'f,l� i\: 'l· 

I �lj t tf{,· l  
'l': f� 'i'i \t 't 
I ;.\1) t. l,'{; I 
&d : firrk 'J. 

:17, Uil JolJ p,IJ t: 
,:·:;.:J. f!( IJ. t-

:iH'Hil 71: 't 
,\., {i ¥� '!!:. ·�. 
�� fU Jt 'I 
t m 11�;& n 
!,:UtHI it 't 
eJ. ·'I f� 11: 1f. 

( oi) I!Ji l 
Jifc i,� w ;t'l 

lf.i H)j �� it 't 
� ,JHJ;JI: 't. 
Ml t ml it'� 

!oJ J.· :.0,£ it 'l· 
Yil'ftl'JP i\:.'t 
�1: f�J riJ it 't 
r.ri f•l·�� '!!:. '�. 
·�;· � fE p,lj L 
')': /,]�l\ it'l 

0. :r �! 7\: 't  
� 'J.> X. i\;'�. 
tl lt' \iE i\;'� 

�lr l' ll  A Sutch 
�lr t;urdon Y S \\"u 

HONG KONG-TAIPEI 

BUSINESS COOPERATION 

COMMITTEE 

EXECUfJVE COM!Illl'l'EE 
·nll· lion J',a<l �I F Clwn� 
tr:haimumJ 
�!rJ l' J.ee 
(\'in)Chaii'JJUIIJI 
�lr :-;jmon K Y Lee 
t \ 'iceChaitmmll 
�lr Alfr�J All 
Dr Lily Chi:lng 
.\1r� \' C lh\"il''i. 
�!r l':<trirk S Ko 
.\lr K K K<.,n 
�lr Hoh�1t C K K\\oh 
\Ir \"k-lor l.o 
Dr �h.:plll'n � Lu1 
\!r CJ :>;dson 
.\lr P:ttnck P:tul 
�!r � �I �i 
�lr Rohert A Thdeen 
�lr l'hilip L T<N' 
)lr And� l l  T:-o<:ng 
\lr C C  Tung 
:llr llu�h \�·u 
\lr 1\.ong Y�1m 

HONG KONG FRANCHISE 

ASSOCIATION 

\lr Peter \'1ghtmgall' f Cbaimwn J 

22ncl FI<X>r United Centre. 
95 Queensway. Hong Kong. 

Telephone no. 2529 9229 

Telex no. 83535 TRINO HX 
Cable CHAlVnlERCOM, 

Telefax. 2527 984.� 

Jli' f1B �}ii[g;;t£ 
r:rc. - <P ·l.' 2 2 �  
'<l! �;\' : 2529  9229 
'•u MI : 83'\35 TRJ:'W H:\ 
<li W. : CHA�!BERC0:\1 
��n'i :  2527  9 8 ·1 3 

fl $j! llit Jt'J: 
l"! 'ii:. fll i'c 'l' 
·i( tt hx it '� 

�� �\h Jt� Jt 't-. 
I U'/; 1  

o\Jj jll Jr. i\:: t 
fE il J\: 'f. 




